This Offering Memorandum constitutes an offering of securities only in those jurisdictions and only to those persons to whom they may lawfully be offered for sale and therein only by persons permitted to sell such securities. This Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, a prospectus or advertisement or a public offering of these securities. This Offering Memorandum is for the personal use only of those persons to whom we deliver a copy in connection with this offering for the purpose of evaluating the securities we are offering hereby. By accepting a copy, you agree that you will not transmit, reproduce or make available to anyone, other than your professional advisors or as required by law, this Offering Memorandum or any information contained herein. No person has been authorized to give any other information or to make any other representation concerning this offering that is not contained in this Offering Memorandum. You should not rely on any such other information or representation.

#### **Continuous Offering**

May 1, 2015

# SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC. CONFIDENTIAL OFFERING MEMORANDUM

#### For Residents of Canada

#### THE ISSUER

Name:	SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC. (the "Corporation" or "Secure Capital")
Head Office:	28 Fulton Way Unit 8-201 Richmond Hill, ON L4B 1J5 Phone: 905-709-8633 Fax: 905-709-9463 www.securecapitalmic.com
Currently Listed or Quoted:	No. These securities do not trade on any exchange or market
Reporting Issuer:	No
SEDAR Filer:	No

THE OFFERING		
Securities Offered:	Class A Preferred Shares of the Corporation (individually a "Share" and collectively the "Shares")	
Price Per Share:	\$ 1.00	
Continuous Offering:	Shares are being offered on a continuous basis subject to a maximum offering size of \$100,000,000 (100,000,000 Shares).	
	There is no minimum. You may be the only purchaser. Funds available under the offering may not be sufficient to accomplish our proposed objectives.	
Minimum Subscription Amount:	\$5,000 – subject to applicable prospectus exemptions	

Maximum	Any one investor in combination with Shares hold by his or her groups or				
Subscription Amount:	Any one investor in combination with Shares held by his or her spouse or common law partner and his or her minor children may only subscribe for up to 25% of the total number of Shares that would be outstanding as of the closing of such transaction, all as determined in the sole discretion of the manager, SECURE CAPITAL GROUP INC. (the "Manager")				
Payment Terms:	Bank draft or money order payable to <b>SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC.</b> accompanied by a fully completed Subscription Agreement, as more particularly described in Item 5, Securities Offered.				
Proposed Closing Dates:	On the last day of each month or as such other times as determined at the sole discretion of the Manager.				
Tax Consequences:	There are important tax consequences to these securities. See Item 6, Income Tax Consequences.				
Selling Agent:	<ul> <li>Yes. See Item 7. All Group Financial Services Inc. ("Agent") is acting as selling agent on behalf of the Corporation. A commission will be paid to the Agent not exceeding 3% of the gross purchase price of the number of Shares, subscribed for by an investor who has purchased their Shares through the Agent and its sub-agents, plus 0.75% in the first year, 1.00% in the second year, and thereafter, 1.25% per year for each year that such investor retains those Shares.</li> <li>The Corporation may engage other registered dealers. Exempt market dealers, investment fund managers, or restricted portfolio managers or pay a referral fee to finders in those jurisdictions where permitted by applicable securities legislation during the course of the offering. See Item 7 - "Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders".</li> </ul>				
Resale Restrictions:	You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period. See Item 10, Resale Restrictions.				
Purchaser's Rights:	<ul><li>For purchasers who are purchasing through an "Offering Memorandum" exemption: You have 2 business days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities.</li><li>If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue either for damages or to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. See Item 11.</li></ul>				
Use of Proceeds:	To invest in a diversified portfolio of mortgages and general corporate purposes.				
Eligibility:	Subscriber is purchasing as an "accredited investor", under the "minimum amount investment", under exemption for "founder, control person and family", or where permitted, under the "Offering Memorandum" or "family, friends and business associates" exemptions, as those terms are defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (" <b>NI 45-106</b> ").				

Currency:	Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts in this Offering Memorandum,				
	Unless otherwise specified, all dollar amounts in this Offering Memorandum, including the symbol "\$", are expressed in Canadian dollars				
Risk Factors:	<ul> <li>An investment in the Shares is subject to significant risks. There are investment risks, issuer risks, and industry risks which include, but are not limited to the following: <ul> <li>a) the Shares will be subject to restrictions on resale</li> <li>b) the Shares will be subject to redemption liquidity</li> <li>c) there is no market for the Shares</li> <li>d) there is no guaranteed return for the Shares</li> <li>e) the nature of the Corporation's business</li> <li>f) the Corporation being subject to competition from other corporations which may have greater financial and technical resources</li> </ul> </li> <li>For a full discussion of these risk factors and others, refer to Item 8: Risk Factors.</li> </ul>				

No securities regulatory authority has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this offering memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence. This is a risky investment. See Item 8, Risk Factors.

### **GENERAL DISCLAIMERS**

The information contained in this Offering Memorandum is intended only for the persons to whom it is transmitted for the purposes of evaluating the securities offered hereby. Prospective Purchasers should only rely on the information in this Offering Memorandum. No persons are authorized to give any information or make any representation in respect of the Corporation or the securities offered herein and any such information or representation must not be relied upon.

This Offering is a private placement and is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, a public offering of the securities described herein. The securities are being offered in reliance upon exemptions from the registration and prospectus requirements set forth in applicable securities legislation.

The securities offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act") or any state securities laws. The securities may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons, as defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, unless registered under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or an exemption from such registration is available. This Offering Memorandum does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the securities offered hereby within the United States.

THIS IS A SPECULATIVE OFFERING. An investment in the securities must be regarded as highly speculative due to the nature of the Corporation's business and its relatively early stage of development. Purchasers must rely on the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and good faith of the management of the Corporation. The securities are suitable only for Purchasers who are able to accept the risks inherent in the Corporation's business. In addition, there are a number of other risk factors that should be considered by persons proposing to make an investment in the securities. Purchasers should consult their own professional advisors to assess the income tax, legal and other aspects of the investment. See Item 8.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Offering Memorandum may contain "forward-looking information" as such term is defined in the *Securities Act* (Ontario). Forward-looking information is disclosure regarding possible events, conditions or results of operations that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action and includes future-oriented financial information ("**FOFI**") with respect to prospective results of operations, financial position or cash flows that is presented either as a forecast or a projection. FOFI is forward-looking information about prospective results of operations, financial position or cash flows and courses of action, and presented in the format of a historical balance sheet, income statement or cash flow statement. Similarly, a "financial outlook" is forward-looking information about prospective results of operations, financial position or cash flows that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action, and presented in the format of a historical balance sheet, income statement or cash flow statement. Similarly, a "financial outlook" is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action that is not presented in the format of a historical balance sheet, income statement or cash flow statement.

Investors are advised that forward-looking information is subject to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations as expressed or implied herein. Although the forward-looking information contained herein reflects the beliefs and expectations of management of the Corporation at this time, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such information. Upon receipt of this Offering Memorandum, each investor will be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed that any forward-looking information contained herein should not be considered material for the purposes of, and may not have been prepared and/or presented consistent with, National Instrument 51-102 *Continuous Disclosure Requirements* ("NI 51-102") and that the investor will not receive any additional information updating such forward-looking information during any period that the Corporation is not a "reporting issuer" in any province or territory of Canada, other than as may be required under applicable securities laws and/or as agreed to in contract.

#### CURRENCY

All dollar amounts stated in this Offering Memorandum are expressed in Canadian currency, except where otherwise indicated.

#### GLOSSARY

"Agent" means All Group Financial Services Inc.

"**Business Day**" means each Monday to Friday except statutory holidays applicable in the Province of Ontario.

"CDIC" means Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation.

"Corporation" or "Secure Capital" means Secure Capital MIC Inc.

**"Financial Services Agreement**" means the agreement dated December 23, 2014, between the Corporation and the Manager detailing the financial services provided by the Manager to the Corporation.

"Manager" means Secure Capital Group Inc.

"MIC" means mortgage investment corporation.

"NI 45-106" means National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.

"OSC" means the Ontario Securities Commission.

"Shares" means Class A Preferred Shares of the Corporation.

"**Specified Shareholder**" means a shareholder who owns, directly or indirectly, at any time in the year, not less than 25% of the issued shares of any class of the capital stock of the Corporation or of any other

corporation that is related to the Corporation and, for the purposes of this definition, a shareholder is deemed to own each share owned at that time by a person related to the shareholder. Individuals related to each other include the individual, the individual's child who is under 18 years of age, and the individual's spouse or common law partner.

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 1: U	SE OF NET PROCEEDS	1
1.1	Net Proceeds	1
1.2	Use of Available Funds	1
1.3	Reallocation	1
ITEM 2: B	USINESS OF THE FUND	1
2.1	Structure	1
2.2	Our Business	2
2.3	Development of Business	6
2.4	Long-Term Objectives	8
2.5	Short-Term Objectives	8
2.6	Insufficient Funds	8
2.7	Material Agreements	9
ITEM 3: D	IRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS	11
3.1	Compensation and Securities Held	11
3.2	Management Experience	11
3.3	Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy	13
3.4	Auditors	13
ITEM 4: C	APITAL STRUCTURE	13
4.1	Share Capital	13
4.2	Long Term Debt	14
4.3	Short Term Debt	14
4.4	Prior Sales	14
ITEM 5: S	ECURITIES OFFERED	14
5.1	Terms of Securities	14
5.2	Subscription Procedure	15
ITEM 6: IN	ICOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	18
	OMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS	
ITEM 8: R	ISK FACTORS	23
8.1	General	23
8.2	Investment Risk	24
8.3	Issuer Risk	25
8.4	Industry Risk	27
ITEM 9: R	EPORTING OBLIGATIONS	29
ITEM 10: 1	RESALE RESTRICTIONS	29
ITEM 11: 1	PURCHASERS' RIGHTS	30
ITEM 12: ]	PERSONAL INFORMATION	37
ITEM 13: ]	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ISSUER	38
ITEM 14: 1	DATE AND CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER	38

# **ITEM 1: USE OF NET PROCEEDS**

# 1.1 Net Proceeds

The net proceeds of the offering and the funds that will be available to the Corporation after the offering is as follows:

		Assuming min. offering <sup>(3)</sup>	Assuming max. offering
А	Amount to be raised by this offering	\$0	\$100,000,000
В	Selling commissions and fees <sup>(1)</sup>	\$0	\$0
C	Estimated offering costs (e .g. legal, accounting, audit) <sup>(2)</sup>	\$0	\$0
D	Available Funds: $D = A - (B + C)$	\$0	\$100,000,000

Notes:

- (1) The Selling Agent is paid up to 3% of proceeds of the Offering. See Item 7.
- (2) Offering costs include legal, bookkeeping, marketing, accounting and audit and other fees payable by the Corporation to its advisors. All Offering costs are paid by the Manager and not from proceeds of the Offering.
- (3) There is no minimum offering. This is a continuous offering of up to a maximum of \$100,000,000.

# **1.2** Use of Net Proceeds

Net Proceeds, after deducting for agent selling commissions and other offering expenses, such as, but not limited to legal and accounting, will be used to invest in a diversified portfolio of mortgages and general corporate purposes. Funds not invested in mortgages from time to time are held in cash deposited with a Canadian chartered bank in short term deposits, savings accounts or guaranteed income certificates, and other investments permitted by Section 130.1 of the Tax Act.

# 1.3 Reallocation

The Corporation intends to spend the available funds as stated in section 1.1. It will reallocate funds to other uses only for sound business reasons.

# **ITEM 2: BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION**

# 2.1 Structure

The Corporation is a corporation which was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on January 23, 2007. The Corporation is a "mortgage investment corporation" as this term is defined by Section 130.1 of the Tax Act, Canada.

The manager of the Corporation ("**Manager**") is Secure Capital Group Inc., a corporation which was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on October 16, 2014. It is an affiliate of the Corporation. The Manager is responsible for managing certain aspects of the Corporation's mortgage investment portfolio.

The head office and the registered office of the Corporation is located at 28 Fulton Way Unit 8-201, Richmond Hill, ON, L4B 1J5

The Corporation is not a reporting issuer or equivalent in any jurisdiction and its securities are not listed or posted for trading on any stock exchange or market.

# 2.2 Our Business

# 2.2 (a) General

MICs were introduced in Canada in 1973 with the enactment of the *Residential Mortgage Financing Act* (Canada) with the intention that the investment of private capital into residential mortgages through a vehicle whereby smaller, non-institutional, investors could place investment funds into mortgages would be encouraged. The concept was to permit the creation of corporate entities for the pooling of mortgages, with each shareholder to own a part of the corporation's total portfolio corresponding to his or her investment in that corporation.

The Corporation qualifies as a MIC and intends to remain qualified as a MIC at all times for the purposes of the Tax Act.

The Manager is responsible for managing the Corporation's mortgage investment portfolio and for managing the day-to-day operations and business affairs of the Corporation. The Financial Services Agreement, among other things, requires the Manager to comply with and observe all laws that apply to the Corporation, its investments and its securities. The Manager will obtain opinions from such counsel as it deems necessary in connection with such compliance. Accordingly, the Corporation does not have and does not expect to have any employees other than the officers listed under Item 3.

As a MIC, the Corporation is allowed to deduct dividends that it pays from its Net Income. The Corporation intends to pay out all of its Net Income and net realized capital gains as dividends within the time period specified in the Tax Act and as a result does not anticipate paying any income tax.

# 2.2 (b) Investment Strategy and Operating Policies

The investment objective is to make prudent investments in mortgages against real property located in Canada, with an emphasis on preserving capital and providing a distribution to shareholders.

There is no assurance of any return on an investor's investment, although the Manager has implemented an investment strategy to minimize the risk of investing in mortgages and is outlined herein.

In considering a mortgage proposal the Manager adheres to strict investment and operating policies which include:

Obtaining a credit application from all potential borrowers.

Obtaining a credit report on both the borrowers and any guarantor(s)

Obtaining an appraisal prepared by an accredited appraiser

Obtaining such other information and/or opinions of value as the Manager deems appropriate in the circumstances to allow them to make an accurate assessment of value with respect to any particular property.

Testing the proposal against the Corporation's investment guidelines

### **Investment Guidelines**

The Corporation has established investment guidelines, which are subject to change from time to time, set out below that are consistent with the Corporation's articles of incorporation, the provisions of the Tax Act and real estate legislation applicable to the Corporation.

1. The Corporation's only undertaking will be to invest the Corporation's funds in accordance with its investment objectives, strategies and restrictions.

2. No more than 50% of the Corporation's assets will be invested in mortgages over commercial and industrial real estate.

3. The Manager intends to apply known and established procedures in the evaluation of mortgage opportunities.

4. The Corporation will not make any investment that would result in it failing to qualify as a MIC or which investment would impair its status as a MIC.

5. Subject to paragraph 8 below, the Corporation will not invest in securities, guaranteed investment certificates or treasury bills unless such securities, guaranteed investment certificates or treasury bills are issued by an arm's-length party and are pledged as collateral in connection with mortgage investments or obtained by realizing on such collateral.

6. The Corporation will not invest for the purposes of exercising control over management of any company.

7. The Corporation will not make short sales of securities or maintain a short position in any securities.

8. The Corporation will not guarantee the securities or obligations of any person.

9. To the extent that the Corporation's funds are not invested in mortgages or other permitted investments, from time to time, they will be held in cash deposited with a Canadian chartered bank or will be invested by the Manager on the Corporation's behalf in short term deposits, savings accounts or government guaranteed income certificates or treasury bills so as to maintain a level of working capital for the Corporation's ongoing operations considered acceptable by its directors.

10. The Tax Act allows mortgage investment corporations to utilize leverage. While the allowable amount can be up to five times assets, the Corporation intends to keep leverage below one times assets

If, due to a change in the provisions of the Tax Act or other legislation applicable to the Corporation, any of the foregoing restrictions require amendment in order to comply with such change in legislation, the Corporation's directors may make such change and such change will be binding on the Corporation. It is anticipated that the Manager will provide the Corporation with assistance from time to time on revision of the foregoing restrictions in order to comply with applicable legislation. In the event of any amendment to the foregoing restrictions, the Manager will be required to comply with and observe such change immediately upon such change becoming effective.

The appraised value need not be on an "as-is" basis and may be based on stated conditions, including without limitations, completion, rehabilitation, or sale and/or lease-out of improvements of the real property in the case of construction or renovation loans.

To maintain a stable interest yield on the mortgage portfolio the Manager will manage risk through the maintenance of a diversified mortgage portfolio, the application of consistent and prudent underwriting criteria, and diligent and proactive mortgage servicing. When deemed necessary and where appropriate, the Manager will establish and manage property tax escrow accounts in respect of the real property provided as security for the Corporation's mortgage investments.

# Conflicts of Interest

The Manager and its directors and officers may make direct investments along with the Corporation in mortgages approved by the Corporation.

The Manager and the Corporation are affiliates, and do not operate at arms-length. Conflicts of interest may arise. See Item 8, Risk Factors.

# 2.2 (c) Nature of Projects to be Financed

The Corporation intends to enter into first and non-first mortgage agreements with qualified mortgagors with such mortgages to be secured by the mortgagors' equity in residential and commercial properties and the terms of such mortgages will be consistent with terms of conventional mortgages having the usual and necessary provisions to constitute a full mortgage in good standing, properly registered in the appropriate Land Titles Offices and having real property as the primary security for the mortgages. Although the Corporation will give priority to higher interest rate mortgages to prospective mortgagors who cannot obtain mortgage funding through more conventional sources, the primary focus throughout will be on capital preservation.

The Corporation also may enter into foreclosure situations to assume existing mortgages presently in arrears on residential or commercial lands and may purchase residential or commercial lands directly from landowners and mortgagors in concurrence with its mandate to preserve capital.

The Corporation's mortgage portfolio composition will vary over time depending on the Manager's assessment of the appropriate strategy given overall market conditions and outlook. The Corporation will endeavor to build a mortgage portfolio that encompasses the following general characteristics:

- (a) diversification by geographical location;
- (b) diversification by seniority: first and non-first;

(c) payment schedules requiring regular periodic payments, which may include interest only mortgages; and

(d) loans in Canadian dollars on primarily Canadian based real estate.

# 2.2 (d) The Tax Act's MIC Criteria

The Corporation will endeavor to comply with the Tax Act's MIC criteria. Section 130.1 of the Tax Act sets out the criteria governing a MIC, and in summary says that in order to qualify as a MIC for a taxation year, a company must have met the following criteria by the end of its first fiscal year, and maintained these criteria throughout every fiscal year thereafter:

1. Its only undertaking was the investing of its funds and it did not manage or develop any real property;

- 2. It did not invest in:
  - (a) mortgages secured by real estate located outside Canada, or property outside Canada;
  - (b) shares of companies not resident in Canada; or
  - (c) real property or leasehold interests outside Canada;
- 3. It had at least 20 shareholders, and no one shareholder was a Specified Shareholder;
- 4. At least 50% of the company's assets were comprised of:
  - (a) loans secured on houses or on property included in a housing project, as those terms are defined in the *National Housing Act* (Canada)<sup>(1)</sup>
  - (b) deposits insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation ("CDIC") or the Régie de l'assurance-dépôts du Québec ("Quebec DIC");
  - (c) deposits in a credit union; and/or
  - (d) cash;
- 5. No more than 25% of the company's assets consisted of real property (excluding any real property acquired by foreclosure);
- 6. The company did not exceed, generally speaking, a 3:1 debt-equity ratio, or a 5:1 ratio if more than two-thirds of the company's property consisted of Residential Mortgages and/or deposits secured by the CDIC (or Quebec DIC) or at a credit union.

Section 130.1 of the Tax Act authorizes a MIC to borrow funds and leverage its capital in certain ratios related to the type of assets held. Provided one-half of a MIC's assets comprise a combination of residential mortgages and/or CDIC insured investments, the MIC is authorized to borrow up to a maximum of three times the amount of its assets. Provided two-thirds of a MIC's assets comprise a combination of residential mortgages and/or CDIC insured investments, the MIC is authorized to borrow up to a maximum of three times the amount of its assets. Provided two-thirds of a MIC's assets comprise a combination of residential mortgages and/or CDIC insured investments, the MIC is authorized to borrow up to a maximum of five times the amount of its assets.

The Corporation will utilize its leverage opportunity under the *Act*. The Corporation will borrow funds whenever funds are available provided it is economical and prudent to do so. This leverage when utilized will allow the Corporation to remain fully invested to the extent possible as funds are received from new investors or mortgages in the Corporation begin to payoff. As this money comes in, the debt will be paid down pending the location of new investment opportunities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(1)</sup> The *National Housing Act (Canada)* provides that: 'house' means a building or movable structure intended for human habitation containing not more than two family housing units, together with the land, if any, on which the building or movable structure is situated; and that "housing project" means a project consisting of one or more houses, one or more multiple-family dwellings, housing accommodation of the hostel or dormitory type, one or more condominium units or any combination thereof, together with any public space, recreational facilities, commercial space and other buildings appropriate to the project, but does not include a hotel.

The Corporation will likely commit to more mortgages then it will ultimately retain in its portfolio and may sell mortgages within its portfolio from time to time to other lenders that may or may not be associated with the Manager, and to reinvest the proceeds on the belief that a certain level of turnover

in the portfolio may lower the overall exposure to defaults and/or to maintain a higher return, while always complying with the criteria set out in the Tax Act to maintain the Corporation's MIC status.

As a MIC under the Tax Act, the Corporation is entitled to deduct from its income the amount of taxable dividends it pays to its shareholders. The Corporation's constating documents require it to pay out as dividends substantially all of its net income and net realized capital gains every year, and as a result the Corporation anticipates that it will not be liable to pay income tax in any year. Effectively the Corporation operates as a tax-efficient conduit of profit to its shareholders. Refer to Item 6, Income Tax Consequences.

The Tax Act's MIC criteria permit revenue sources other than residential mortgages, including among other things equity investments in real estate, investments in stocks and securities of Canadian companies, and mortgage lending in respect of commercial real estate. Notwithstanding its ability to invest in the array of investments allowed under the Tax Act, it is the Corporation's policy to invest its non-CDIC (short-term bank deposits) in mortgages secured by Canadian real estate property.

# 2.2 (e) Problem Identification and Rectification

The Corporation intends to minimize risks associated with defaulting mortgages through its diligent standard for monitoring the Corporation's mortgage portfolio. Any and all defaults are immediately dealt with by following effective enforcement procedures to their conclusion if necessary. The Corporation will accomplish this through the Manager, which has substantial experience in servicing loans, including the institution of enforcement proceedings.

The default management and recovery program includes but is not limited to the following:

Implementation of enforcement proceedings following default under the terms of the mortgage;

Issuing demand letters; and

Instructing legal counsel to commence enforcement proceedings in a timely fashion to ensure the security for the loan is realized as soon as possible, or in the alternative assisting the borrower to obtain alternative financing as soon as possible.

### 2.3 Development of Business

The Corporation has been in operation since 2007. Its business is limited to investing the net proceeds of this offering and prior offerings in mortgage investments in accordance with the policies and guidelines described in item 2.2.

In 2013 The Corporation advanced \$8.7m of mortgage loans, net of syndications, and discharged \$8.0m of loans, net of syndications. Net interest income was \$1.9m. Due to lower than anticipated losses that were allowed for at the end of 2012, total bad debt expense was a recovery of \$0.02m, which includes a loan loss provision of \$0.3m. The Corporation's experience with actual write-offs has averaged approximately 2% of average mortgage loan balances since inception. Net income was \$0 as is a requirement to maintain MIC status under the Income Tax Act.

In 2014 The Corporation advanced \$17.0m of mortgage loans, net of syndications, and discharged \$12.2m of loans, net of syndications. The growth in mortgage loans advanced was due to new institutional partnerships formed during the year. Net interest income was \$2.4m. Loan losses in 2014 were within The Corporation's expectations and total bad debt expense was \$0.5m which includes a loan loss provision of \$0.4m. The Corporation's experience with actual write-offs has averaged approximately 2% of average

mortgage loan balances since inception. Net income was \$0 as is a requirement to maintain MIC status under the Income Tax Act.

Assuming the reinvestment of dividends, annualized returns of the Shares since inception are presented below. Since inception, the annualized return has been 8.7%. For FY2013 and FY2014 the annualized return was 8.3% in each year.



As of December 31, 2014, the Corporation's net mortgage portfolio was 411 mortgages with a balance over \$19m, which is net of a loan loss provision of \$0.4m. The weighted average interest rate was 11.34% and the weighted average LTV was approximately 74.5%. The term on loans at origination are typically 12 months or less.

The following tables illustrate the geography, urban vs. rural, security position and the loan type of the existing Mortgage Loans in which the Corporation has an interest:

Geography	% of Mortgages Outstanding
Ontario	58%
Quebec	33%
Western Canada	5%
Atlantic Canada	3%

Urban vs. Rural	% of Mortgages Outstanding
Urban	78%
Rural	22%

Seniority	% of Mortgages Outstanding
First	11%
Second	88%
Third	1%

Loan Type	% of Mortgages Outstanding
Residential	95%
Residential Construction	5%

# 2.4 Long-Term Objectives

The Corporation's long term objective is to provide holders of Shares with sustainable income while preserving capital for distribution or re-investment. The Corporation will seek to achieve this principal investment objective by using the funds raised pursuant to this Offering and investing such funds in mortgages. The Corporation shall invest in mortgages which shall be secured by the respective mortgagor's equity in real property. The Corporation anticipates continuing to raise funds under this Offering for the foreseeable future and investing all available net proceeds raised in mortgages as opportunities arise for such investment. The Corporation will reinvest in mortgages with the Corporation's income received upon the mortgages becoming due. The costs related to the investment and reinvestment in mortgages is nominal and is not considered to be material. The Corporation's income will primarily consist of interest received on the loans secured by the mortgages.

The Shares are entitled to a dividend at the rate of 8% per annum if and as declared by the Board of Directors and subject to the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario); paid monthly on or about the last business day of the month and before any fees are paid to the Manager: non-cumulative preferential cash dividends; pro-rata from the date Shares are acquired by an investor. It is our objective to endeavor to pay this dividend as prescribed.

# 2.5 Short-Term Objectives

The Corporation's short-term objective is to raise capital, originate and identify qualified investments which are in accordance with the Tax Act's MIC criteria with the intent of optimizing return (as described in more detail above under Items 2.2 and 2.3), and continue paying monthly dividends to its shareholders.

The Corporation's business plan is not dependent on placement of the maximum amount of this offering. The Corporation anticipates that whatever funds are raised, above the minimum stated herein, will be sufficient for the Corporation to continue implementing its business plan.

# 2.6 Insufficient Funds

As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation does not have a working capital deficiency.

### 2.7 Material Agreements

The Corporation is currently a party to the following material agreement:

### **Financial Services Agreement**

The Corporation and the Manager have entered into an exclusive agreement dated December 23, 2014 (the **"Financial Services Agreement**") under which the Manager shall provide mortgage underwriting and renewal servicing to the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the Financial Services Agreement.

The Manager and the Corporation are "related" companies. Directors and officers of the Corporation collectively own directly or indirectly 77.5% of the common equity in the capital stock of the Manager, and collectively own 88.7% of the outstanding common equity in the capital stock of the Corporation. They each are also directors and officers of the Manager, and each are directors and officers of the Corporation.

The Manager will be responsible for the employment expenses of their personnel and all other operating costs relating to the performance of the Manager's duties and obligations under the Financial Services Agreement.

The Corporation, through other registered dealers, may engage in marketing activity to identify additional investors from time to time which marketing costs will be borne by the Corporation. The costs pertaining to marketing and distribution will be reasonable and economical so as to not produce a major adverse effect on the yield of the investment pool. The Manager strongly believes that by increasing the size of the Corporation, the overall risk of the loan portfolio is greatly reduced, which significantly reduces the investment risk to each individual investor.

Under the Financial Services Agreement, for its underwriting services the Manager is entitled to 100% of the income remaining after payment of dividends and all expenses.

The Manager may also charge fees to borrowers for originating, underwriting, renewing, and servicing mortgages.

The Financial Services Agreement is for an initial term of three (3) years.

The Corporation may only terminate the Financial Services Agreement as follows:

- a) A bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation order is issued against the Manager;
- b) The Manager makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or commits any act of bankruptcy within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada);
- c) The Manager assigns the Financial Service Agreement or its rights or obligations hereunder to any person who is not an affiliate of the Manager without the prior written consent of the Directors;
- d) The Manager commits a breach or default under the Financial Services Agreement not related to the payment of any money to be paid by the Manager to the Corporation and the same is not cured within 90 days of the Manager receiving notice thereof;
- e) The Manager commits a breach or default under the Financial Services Agreement related to the payment of any money to be paid by the Manager to the Corporation and the same is not cured within 15 days of the Manager receiving notice thereof;

f) The Corporation gives the Manager one (1) month notice (via registered or electronic mail) of its intention to terminate the Financial Services Agreement.

The Manager may terminate the Financial Services Agreement as follows:

- a) A bankruptcy, receivership, or liquidation order is issued against the Corporation;
- b) The Corporation makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors to commit any act of bankruptcy within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada); or
- c) The Manager gives the Corporation one (1) year's prior written notice of intention to terminate the Financial Services Agreement.

The Financial Services Agreement may also be terminated by mutual consent in writing.

The Corporation and the Manager expressly agree in the Financial Services Agreement that it does not create a fiduciary relationship between the Corporation and the Manager. However the Manager has agreed that it will exercise its powers and discharge its duties under these agreements honestly, in good faith and in what it reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Corporation.

The Manager will be given the right to attend and be heard, at all meetings of the Corporation's shareholders, the Corporation's board of directors, and any committees established by the board of directors.

The Corporation acknowledges in the Financial Services Agreement that the Manager, and their respective shareholders, directors and senior officers have, or may acquire, interests and dealings in other companies, joint ventures, limited partnerships and/or MICs which are presently or may in the future be actively engaged in similar businesses as the Corporation. The Corporation agrees that the Manager, as well as all of their respective shareholders, directors or senior officers will not be liable to the Corporation for any conflict of interest as a result of such other interests or dealings, and that such interests and dealings do not and will not constitute a breach of the Financial Services Agreement even if competitive with the business of the Corporation, and even if the business opportunity could have been pursued by the Corporation.

The Manager will not be liable to the Corporation in respect of any loss or damage suffered by the Corporation, including any loss or diminution in the net assets (that is, the value of the Corporation's assets less its liabilities) of the Corporation, unless such loss or damage is a direct result of gross negligence, gross willful misconduct, or dishonesty by the Manager in relation to its duties and responsibilities under the Financial Services Agreement.

The Financial Services Agreement also provides that the Corporation will indemnify the Manager, as well as their directors, officers and employees, from any claims arising in relation to the Manager's duties and responsibilities under the Financial Services Agreement.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Financial Services Agreement, the Corporation has granted to the Manager, or any related company, the irrevocable right at any time to purchase the Corporation's investment in any and/or all of the mortgages held by the Corporation for a purchase price equal to the Corporation's percentage interest in the principal amount of such mortgages, and accrued interest payable thereon, calculated as at the end of business on the day immediately preceding the purchase date, less all accrued costs and expenses relating to the Corporation.

# ITEM 3: DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS

# 3.1 Compensation and Securities Held

The following table sets out the specified information about each director, officer, and promoter of the Corporation and each person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting securities of the Corporation (a "**principal holder**").

As at May 1, 2015

Name and municipality of principal residence	Positions held and the date of obtaining that position	Compensation paid by the Corporation in the most recently completed financial year or to be paid in the current financial year	Number, type and percentage of securities of the Corporation held after completion of min. offering	Number, type and percentage of securities of the Corporation held after completion of max. offering
Chris Couprie, Maple ON	Chief Executive Officer, March 2014 Director, March 2014	\$0	22.4% of common shares; 3.3% of Class A preferred shares	22.4% of common shares; 0.5% of Class A preferred shares
Sheri Kosturik, Maple ON	President, May 2010 Director, May 2010	\$0	22.5% of common shares; 7.8% of Class A preferred shares	22.5% of common shares; 1.2% of Class A preferred shares
Joshua Singal, Richmond Hill ON		\$0	11.2% of common shares; 2.0% of Class A preferred shares	11.2% of common shares; 0.3% of Class A preferred shares
Sam Singal, Richmond Hill, ON	Secretary, July 2007 Director, July 2007	\$0	22.5% of common shares; 8.0% of Class A preferred shares	22.5% of common shares; 1.2% of Class A preferred shares
Sasha Singal, Maple ON	Director, March 2014	\$0	11.3% of common shares; 2.0% of Class A preferred shares	11.3% of common shares; 0.3% of Class A preferred shares
Jaime Vilas, Oakville, ON	Chief Marketing Officer, March 2014 Director, March 2014	\$0	10.0% of common shares; 0.2% of Class A preferred shares	10.0% of common shares; 0.0% of Class A preferred shares

# 3.2 Management Biographies

# Chris Couprie – Chief Executive Officer (Officer, Board Member)

Chris Couprie has been in the financial services industry for 14 years. Mr. Couprie was a portfolio manager at a Toronto based asset manager, First Asset, from 2007 to 2014. Mr. Couprie was the comanager of a real estate dedicated mutual fund which was the recipient of a Lipper Award for 2011 performance and a FundData A+ Award for 2013 performance. Mr. Couprie's experience also includes the creation and execution of covered call strategies, and developed the infrastructure for the

firm's ETF platform for equities. Mr. Couprie was managing and administering over \$1b of assets prior to joining Secure Capital MIC Inc. in early 2014. Prior to First Asset, Mr. Couprie was a research associate at Desjardins Securities and a portfolio assistant for a long-short market neutral quantitative hedge fund.

Mr. Couprie earned his Chartered Financial Analyst designation in 2004. In 2000 Mr. Couprie graduated The University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Commerce degree, with distinction.

### *Sheri Kosturik – President, Chief Operating Officer (Officer, Board Member)*

Sheri Kosturik has been actively involved in the mortgage industry since 2004. With Sam Singal, Mrs. Kosturik was a co-founder of mortgage brokerage Mortgage Central in 2004 and was a principal until 2007. Mrs. Kosturik owned and operated another mortgage brokerage, Mortgage Connect, from 2007 to 2010. With Sam Singal, Mrs. Kosturik also co-founded Secure Capital MIC Inc. in 2007.

Mrs. Kosturik is a member of both CAAMP (Canadian Association of Accredited Mortgage Professionals) and IMBA (Independent Mortgage Brokers Association).

Mrs. Kosturik is a graduate of the Seneca College Financial Services Underwriting program, where she earned her Honours Diploma in 2006.

She previously earned a Bachelor of Arts Degree with Honours in 2003 from York University.

#### Sam Singal – Secretary (Officer, Board Member)

Mr. Singal began investing in private mortgages in 1978 and managed his assets and close associates' assets, by investing in mortgages via syndications for the last 30 years. In 2004, Mr. Singal co-founded Mortgage Central, an Ontario based Mortgage broker, and was a principal until 2007. In 2007, Mr. Singal co-founded Secure Capital MIC Inc.

Mr. Singal worked as a Management Professional at Ontario Hydro from 1975 to 1988, and was a consulting engineer from 1988 to 1992. From 1993 to 2003, Mr. Singal was the President of CM300 Corp, a NASDAQ listed Virtual Reality equipment manufacturer.

Born in Lithuania in 1948, Sam immigrated to Montreal, Quebec in 1959, and graduated McGill University with a degree in Electrical Engineering.

### Sasha Singal – (Board Member)

Sasha Singal is a founding shareholder of Secure Capital MIC Inc. with over 2.5 years of mortgage industry experience including enforcement activities (collecting missed payments, managing the power of sale procedure, etc.), underwriting deals, and portfolio management.

Mr. Singal completed the Mortgage Agent Licensing Course in 2012 and has been a licensed mortgage agent through The Mortgage Centre – Mortgage One Solutions, since August 2013. Mr. Singal is a member of both CAAMP and IMBA.

Mr. Singal graduated from the International Business program at Seneca College in 2011.

#### Jaime Vilas – Chief Marketing Officer (Officer, Board Member)

Jaime Vilas has been involved in the mortgage industry since 2001 and has closed over \$175m in mortgage loans. In 2001 Mr. Vilas was an agent with The Mortgage Center where he also managed over 80 mortgage agents between 2002 and 2006. From 2006 to 2009, Mr. Vilas owned and managed a mortgage brokerage, ClearView Mortgage Corp. Mr. Vilas has been involved in mortgage distribution with the Corporation since its inception in 2007. Mr. Vilas became and officer and director of the Corporation in 2014.

Prior to a career in the mortgage industry, Mr. Vilas was a financial advisor at Midland Walwyn from 1997 to 2000. In addition, Mr. Vilas owned and operated two fitness clubs and a restaurant from 1990 to 1995. Mr. Vilas was drafted by the Toronto Argonauts in 1988. Mr. Vilas attended York University for Physical Education and Psychology.

# 3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy

No penalties or sanctions have been in effect during the last 10 years, nor has any cease trade order been in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days during the past 10 years against (i) a director, executive officer, or control person of the Corporation, or (ii) an issuer of which a person referred to in (i) was a director, executive officer or control person at the time. Other than Sam Singal who declared personal bankruptcy in 2007, no declarations of bankruptcy, voluntary assignments in bankruptcy, proposals under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangements or compromises with creditors or appointments of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets, have been in effect during the last 10 years against (i) a director, executive officer, or control person of the Corporation, or (ii) an issuer of which a person referred to in (i) was a director, executive officer or control person at the time.

# 3.4 Loans

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, there are no outstanding loans or debentures between the directors, management, promoters or principal holders and the Corporation.

# 3.5 Auditors

The Corporation's auditors are MNP LLP.

# **ITEM 4: CAPITAL STRUCTURE**

# 4.1 Share Capital

The following table sets out information about the Corporation's outstanding securities, including any options, warrants and other securities convertible into Shares as of May 1, 2015.

Description of Security	Number authorized to be issued	Number outstanding as at May 1, 2015	Number outstanding after minimum offering	Number outstanding after maximum offering
Voting Common Shares	Unlimited	1,000	1,000	1,000
Class A Preferred Shares	Unlimited	17,366,614	17,366,614	117,366,614
Class B Preferred Shares	Unlimited	0	0	0
Class C Preferred Shares	Unlimited	0	0	0
Class D Preferred Shares	Unlimited	0	0	0
Class E Preferred Shares	Unlimited	0	0	0

### 4.2 Long Term Debt

The Corporation currently has no long term debt. If deemed necessary by the Manager, the Corporation may, from time to time, secure long term debt from financial institutions or other third parties. Such loans may be secured by granting encumbrances, security interests or other charges on the assets of the Corporation.

### 4.3 Short Term Debt

At May 1, 2015, the Corporation had \$3.9m in short term debt consisting of \$3.1m drawn on its line of credit, and \$0.8m in notes payable. The total amount available under the credit facility is up to \$5m (of which \$3.1m is drawn). The rate on the credit facility is prime plus 750bps and the weighted average rate on the notes payable is 9.4%. If deemed necessary by the Manager, the Corporation may, from time to time, secure short term debt from financial institutions or other third parties. Such loans may be secured by granting encumbrances, security interests or other charges on the assets of the Corporation.

### 4.4 Prior Sales

Within the last 12 month period, Class A Preferred Shares of the Corporation have been issued as follows:

Date of Issuance	Type of Security	Number of Securities Issued	Price Per Security	Total Funds Received
Jun 30, 2014	Class A Preferred Shares	905,014	\$1.00	\$905,014
Sep 30, 2014	Class A Preferred Shares	1,151,510	\$1.00	\$1,151,510
Dec 31, 2014	Class A Preferred Shares	2,204,614	\$1.00	\$2,204,614
Mar 31, 2015	Class A Preferred Shares	167,500	\$1.00	\$167,500

# **ITEM 5: SECURITIES OFFERED**

### 5.1 Terms of Securities

- (a) **Voting** The holders of the Shares are not entitled to notice of or to attend or vote at any meetings of the holders of common shares of the Corporation.
- (b) Conversion or exercise price and date of expiry The Shares are not convertible.
- (c) **Redemption Rights by the Corporation** Subject to the provisions of the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario) and applicable securities laws, Secure Capital may retract all or any part of the Shares at any time.
- (d) Redemption Rights by the Holder Subject to the requirements of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and applicable securities laws, a holder of Shares may request, by written notice, that Secure Capital redeem the shares of the holder in whole or in part on the 25<sup>th</sup> day of any month provided the holder has delivered written notice to Secure Capital on

or before the last business day of the calendar month which is two full months before the month in which a holder of Shares wishes to redeem (the "**Redemption Date**"). Secure Capital will redeem the Shares specified in the notice for an amount equal to the book value of the Shares calculated using the unaudited monthly balance sheet for the month in which such notice is received by Secure Capital plus the *pro rata* share of any distributions on the Shares to be redeemed which have accrued up to and including the Redemption Date, which price will be paid within 10 days of the Redemption Date.

The Corporation reserves the right to refuse any redemption request in whole or in part if: (i) the redemption would result in the redemption of greater than 25% of the Shares issued and outstanding as at the beginning of the fiscal year during which such redemption notices are given, or (ii) if the redemption of the aggregate number of Shares in any calendar month would result in a number of Shares which is greater than 5% of the Shares issued and outstanding as at the beginning of the current fiscal year being redeemed on the next Redemption Date. In such a case, Shares which are subject to redemption notices will be redeemed on a basis which is *pro rata* to the number of Shares subject to redemption notices, up to the limits specified above. If the Redemption Date is less than one year after the date the Shares were issued, a redemption fee of 3% will apply.

- (e) **Dividends** 8% per annum if and as declared by the Board of Directors and subject to the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario); paid monthly on or about the last business day of the month and before any fees are paid to the Manager: non-cumulative preferential cash dividends; pro-rata from date Shares acquired by investor.
- (f) *Dividend Reinvestment Plan* This plan entitles investors to re-invest dividends in additional Shares. Investors may request enrollment in this plan, enrollment will continue until the investor gives written notice to the Corporation.
- (g) **Pre-emptive Rights** Except as otherwise required by law, the holders of the Shares are not entitled as such to pre-emptive right to subscribe for, purchase, or receive any part of any issue of shares, bonds, debentures, or other securities of the Corporation.
- (h) Liquidation, Dissolution, or Winding up In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Secure Capital, holders of Shares are entitled to receive all dividends declared and unpaid on the Shares, and an amount equal to (but not greater than) the amount that would be required to redeem the Shares then outstanding. If there are insufficient assets to satisfy the claims of all Shareholders, holders of Shares will participate *pari passu* with other preferred shareholders. Holders of Shares are not entitled to share in any other distribution of the property or assets of Secure Capital.

# 5.2 Subscription Procedure

The Shares are offered on a private placement basis, conditional upon any sale of Shares being exempt from the prospectus requirements of applicable legislation. Each subscriber for Shares will be deemed to have represented to the Corporation, the Manager and to any broker or dealer who places the Shares with the subscriber that the subscriber is purchasing as an "accredited investor", under the "minimum amount investment", under exemption for "family, friends and business associates", or where permitted, under the "Offering Memorandum" exemption, as those terms are defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions ("NI 45-106").

The minimum investment is \$5,000.00, except if you are purchasing under the "minimum amount investment" exemption, the minimum amount is \$150,000. An individual purchaser may not rely on the "minimum amount investment" exemption.

Persons wishing to subscribe for Shares under this Offering may do so by completing the following steps:

(a) **Subscription Forms** – This Offering Memorandum is for persons who are resident in Canada. To subscribe for Shares, investors must complete the Corporation's form of Subscription Agreement, including all applicable Exhibits. Where applicable, investors subscribing under an "accredited investor" exemption in certain categories of accredited investor applicable to individual investors, an "Offering Memorandum Exemption" or "family, friends and business associates exemption" must also complete a Risk Acknowledgement Form, and if claiming to be an "eligible investor" for purposes of the "Offering Memorandum Exemption", must complete a schedule containing an Eligible Investor Status Certificate.

(b) **Method for Payment** – A cheque or bank draft in an amount equal to \$1.00 multiplied by the number of Shares being subscribed for must be forwarded to company's head office in Toronto, Ontario made payable to SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC.

(c) **Submitting Subscriptions** – Completed Subscription Agreements and funds payable to SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC. must be received by the Corporation at:

SECURE CAPITAL MIC INC 28 Fulton Way Unit 8-201, Richmond Hill, ON L4B 1J5 Phone: 905-709-8633 Fax: 905-709-9463 www.securecapitalmic.com

(d) Acceptance of Subscriptions and Closings – Subscriptions may be accepted at the sole discretion of the Manager, and are subject to the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement signed by the investor and compliance with applicable Securities Laws. The authority to accept or reject subscriptions has been delegated to the Manager to insure that the Corporation maximizes its return for existing investors, that the fund remains qualified as a "MIC" as this term is defined by the Tax Act, and to insure that the Corporation complies with all other relevant Securities Laws. The Manager may also defer acceptance of a subscription on behalf of the Corporation if the directors do not anticipate that the Corporation will have sufficient investment opportunities within the next 30 day period to absorb the funds. If the directors do the Manager until the money can be rolled into the Corporation's mortgage portfolio, with all interest earned being paid to such investor. If the Manager rejects a subscription for any other reason, the subscription funds received will be returned to the investor, without interest or deduction, along with notification of the rejection.

The Subscription Agreement referred to herein contains representations and warranties of the Subscriber, which the Corporation will be relying upon in order to determine the eligibility of the Subscriber. You should carefully review the terms of the Subscription Agreement for more detailed information concerning the rights and obligations applicable to you and the Corporation. Execution and delivery of the Subscription Agreement will bind you to the terms thereof, whether executed by you or by an agent on your behalf. **You should consult with your own professional advisors.** 

Shares are being offered on a continuous basis. A Closing under this Offering shall occur on such dates and times as may be determined by the Corporation, subject to any cancellation notices.

Proceeds received from Subscribers who purchase Shares under this Offering will be held in trust and only released against delivery of the certificates representing the Shares subscribed therefor. In the event that this Offering is terminated prior to Closing, the proceeds under the Offering received from each Subscriber shall be returned to such Subscriber without interest or deduction.

Note: All subscription proceeds will be held in trust until midnight on the second Business Day after the day the Subscriber signs the applicable Subscription Agreement. In the event that Subscribers provide the Corporation with a cancellation notice prior to midnight of the second Business Day after the signing date, all subscription proceeds will be promptly returned to the Subscriber without interest or deduction.

This Offering may be nullified at the sole discretion of the Manager acting on behalf of the Corporation. For example, the Manager might choose to nullify the Offering upon the occurrence of events such as any material adverse to change in the business, personnel or financial condition of the Manager. If this Offering is nullified for any reason, the Subscription Agreement and cash funds received by the Manager prior to the nullification will be returned to investors without interest or deduction as if the investors' subscription had been rejected (whether or not the subscription(s) had previously been accepted by the Corporation).

This offering is not subject to any minimum subscription level except specified on the face pages hereof, or as required for the Corporation to maintain its status as a "MIC" under Canadian income tax law. Therefore any funds received from an investor, are available to the Corporation and need not be refunded to the investor save and except as required by the constating documents of the Corporation, the terms of this Offering Memorandum, or as otherwise required by law.

A prospective investor will become a shareholder upon execution of a Subscription Agreement, acceptance of the Subscription Agreement by the Manager acting on behalf of the Corporation, payment of the subscription price, and entry of the investor's name in the shareholder register of the Corporation.

### **Offering Memorandum exemption**

Where permitted by law, the Corporation is also offering the Shares pursuant to the "Offering Memorandum exemption" of NI 45-106. As at the date of this offering memorandum, the "Offering Memorandum exemption" exists in British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Labrador, Alberta, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Québec, Saskatchewan and Yukon. When permitted to be used in Ontario, the Corporation will rely on the "Offering Memorandum exemption" in Ontario.

In British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Newfoundland and Labrador: the purchaser under the Offering Memorandum exemption must purchase the Shares as principal, must receive this offering memorandum, and must deliver a signed risk acknowledgement. When the Offering Memorandum exemption is permitted to be used in Ontario, the same will apply.

In Alberta, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Québec, Saskatchewan and Yukon: the purchaser under the Offering Memorandum exemption must purchase the Shares as principal, must receive this offering memorandum, and must deliver a signed risk acknowledgement, and the purchaser must be an Eligible Investor or the acquisition cost to the purchaser must not exceed \$10,000, and if the issuer is an investment fund, the investment fund is (i) a non-redeemable investment fund, or (ii) a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer. Further, the purchaser is not an "Eligible Investor" if that person was created, or is used, solely to purchase or hold securities in reliance on the Offering Memorandum exemption from the prospectus requirement. See NI 45-106.

Each Subscriber is urged to consult with his own legal adviser as to the details of the statutory exemption being relied upon and the consequences of purchasing securities pursuant to such exemption.

# **ITEM 6: INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES**

You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the tax consequences that apply to you.

No application has been made for an advance income tax ruling with respect to the investment described in this Offering Memorandum nor is it intended that any application be made.

The Corporation has prepared the following summary, which it believes is a fair and adequate summary of the principal federal income tax consequences arising under the Tax Act to an investor who is an individual resident in Canada who acquires Shares under this Offering Memorandum.

The income tax consequences will not be the same for all investors, but may vary depending on a number of factors including the province or provinces in which the investor resides or carries on business, whether Shares acquired by him will be characterized as capital property, and the amount his taxable income would be but for his participation in this Offering.

The following discussion of the Canadian income tax consequences is, therefore, of a general and limited nature only and is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of the income tax consequences and should not be interpreted as legal or tax advice to any particular investor. This summary does not address provincial or territorial laws of Canada or any tax laws of any jurisdiction outside of Canada. Each prospective investor should obtain advice from his own independent tax advisor as to the Canadian federal and provincial income tax consequences of his acquisition of Shares, as such consequences can vary depending upon the particular circumstances of each investor.

This summary is based on the Corporation's understanding of the current provisions of the Tax Act, the Regulations to the Tax Act, and the current administrative and assessing practices of Canada Revenue Agency ("**CRA**"). This summary assumes that the Tax Proposals will be enacted as currently proposed but does not take into account or anticipate any other changes in law whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action and does not take into account tax legislation or considerations of any province, territory or foreign jurisdiction.

This summary outlines the Canadian federal income tax consequences to an investor based on important facts and assumptions as set out by the Corporation in the Offering Memorandum and particularly on additional facts and assumptions as follows:

- (a) Investors are, and will not cease to be, individual residents in Canada;
- (b) Investors deal at arm's length and are not affiliated with the Corporation;
- (c) Investors acquire Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum and hold the Shares as capital property;
- (d) Investors hold Shares for the purpose of earning income and have reasonable expectation of earning a profit from holding the Shares; and
- (e) The Corporation will qualify at all material times as a MIC for the purposes of the Tax Act.

Generally, the Shares will be considered capital property to a holder provided such holder does not hold the Shares in the course of carrying on business and has not acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure in the nature of trade. Holders who may not hold the Shares as capital property can elect, in certain circumstances, to have such property treated as capital property by making the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. This summary is not applicable to any holder of Shares which is a "financial institution", as defined in section 142.2 of the Tax Act or to any holder of Shares an interest in which is a "tax shelter investment" for the purposes of the Tax Act.

This summary is based on the assumption that the Corporation meets certain conditions which are imposed by the Tax Act to qualify as a MIC. These conditions will generally be satisfied if, throughout a taxation year of the Corporation; or, in the Corporation's first taxation year, at the end of such first taxation year:

- (a) the Corporation is a Canadian Corporation as defined in the Tax Act;
- (b) the Corporation's only undertaking was the investing of funds, and it did not manage or develop any real property;
- (c) no debts were owing to the Corporation by non-residents of Canada, except any such debts that were secured on real property situated in Canada;
- (d) the Corporation did not own shares of corporations not resident in Canada;
- (e) the Corporation did not hold real property situated outside of Canada;
- (f) no debts were owing to the Corporation that were secured on real property situated outside of Canada;
- (g) the cost amount of the Corporation's property consisting of mortgages on "houses" or on property included within a "housing project" (as those terms are defined in section 2 of the *National Housing Act* (Canada)), deposits with a bank or other Funds whose deposits are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Fund or a credit union, together with cash on hand (collectively, the "**Qualifying Property**"), was at least 50% of the cost amount to it of all of its property;
- (h) the cost amount of real property (including leasehold interests therein but excluding real property acquired as a consequence of foreclosure or defaults on a mortgage held by the Corporation) owned by the Corporation did not exceed 25% of the cost amount to it of all of its property;
- the Corporation had 20 or more shareholders and no person would have held more than 25% of the issued shares of the capital stock of the Corporation or been a specified shareholder (as such term is defined in subsection 130.1(6) of the Tax Act) of the Corporation;
- (j) holders of any preferred shares had a right, after payment of their dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per share to the holders of common shares, to participate *pari passu* with the holders of common shares in any further payment of dividends; and
- (k) where at any time in the year (or at the end of the year, as the case may be) the cost amount to it of its Qualifying Property was less than 2/3 of the cost amount to it of all of its property, the Corporation's liabilities did not exceed three times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property exceeded its liabilities, or, where throughout the taxation year (or at the end of the year, as the case may be) the cost amount to it of its Qualifying Property equaled or exceeded 2/3 of the cost amount of all of its property, the Corporation's liabilities did not exceed five times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property exceeded its liabilities.

It has been assumed for the purpose of this summary that the Corporation will qualify as a MIC in

accordance with conditions prescribed in the Tax Act at all times which are relevant to the opinions expressed herein.

It is incumbent upon prospective investors to fully investigate and substantiate the expectations above and, with respect to the assumption stated in (c) above, it is incumbent on an investor to investigate and substantiate his expectation of earning a profit from holding Shares, having regard to his expected financing costs and any projections he may wish to obtain from the Corporation.

There is no assurance that the Tax Act and related Regulations will not be amended in a manner that fundamentally alters the income tax consequences to investors who acquire or dispose of Shares. This summary does not take into account any changes in law, whether by way of legislative or judicial action.

There has been no application for an Advance Income Tax Ruling from CCRA on any aspect of the transactions proposed in the Offering Memorandum, nor is it intended that such an application will be made. No opinion from the Corporation's legal counsel or accountants has been given with respect to these income tax considerations. The analysis contained herein is not all encompassing and should not be construed as specific advice to any particular investor and is not a substitute for careful tax planning, particularly since certain of the income tax consequences of an investment will not be the same for all taxpayers. Regardless of tax consequences, a decision to purchase the Shares offered should be based primarily on the merits of the investment as such and on an investor's ability to bear any loss that may be incurred.

### **The Corporation**

As a MIC, the Corporation is subject to special rules under the Tax Act that permit the Corporation to be operated, in effect, as a tax free "flow through" conduit of its profit to its shareholders. The income of the Corporation for purposes of the Tax Act includes interest earned and the taxable portion of any net realized capital gains.

The Corporation will, in computing its income, generally be entitled to deduct the full amount of all taxable dividends (other than capital gains dividends) which it pays during the year or within 90 days after the end of the year to the extent that such dividends were not deductible by the in computing its income for the preceding year. In addition, the Corporation may generally declare a capital gains dividend in an amount equal to the gross amount of its capital gains and is entitled to deduct, in computing its income for the year, one-half (1/2) of its capital gains dividend paid during the period commencing 91 days after the commencement of the year and ending 90 days after the end of the year. The Corporation intends to pay taxable dividends and capital gains dividends each year in sufficient amounts to reduce its Part I income tax liability to Nil. If and to the extent the Corporation has income after these and other applicable deductions, such income is subject to the prevailing tax rates applicable to a public corporation.

### Shareholders

### A. Dividends

Taxable dividends, except capital gains dividends, received by a Shareholder are taxable in the hands of the Shareholder as interest and not as dividends. Capital gains dividends received by a Shareholder are treated as capital gains of the Shareholder, one half of which must be included as a "taxable capital gain" in computing the Shareholder's taxable income.

### B. Dispositions

The cost to a Shareholder of his/her Shares (plus or minus certain adjustments required under the Tax

Act) will be the adjusted cost base of the Shares at any particular time, against which a capital gain or capital loss will be measured on a sale or other deemed disposition of the Shares. For the purposes of calculating the "adjusted cost base" of the Shares, the investor will include the amount paid for the Shares plus any increase in value in the Shares. Given all income is intended to be paid to investors, it is not expected that the Shares will increase in value over time. The Shares will decrease in value only if the Corporation suffers losses on mortgage investments. Any such losses would be reflected in a negative balance in the retained earnings of the Corporation. The value of each investor's Shares would decrease pro-rata.

A Shareholder will be considered to have disposed of his/her Shares when that Shareholder assigns or sells those Shares, those Shares are the subject of a gift, he/she dies, or where the Corporation is wound-up or otherwise terminated. A Share which is the subject of a gift or which is held by a Shareholder when he/she dies is generally deemed to be disposed of for proceeds equal to fair market value at that time. However, in certain circumstances a capital gain or capital loss will be deferred where gift or bequest transfers the Share to the Shareholder's spouse.

Generally, a Shareholder will realize a capital gain (or sustain a capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds received or deemed to have been received on the disposition of a Share exceed (or are exceeded by) the adjusted cost base of the Share.

Shareholders will include one half of any capital gain in computing taxable income as a "taxable capital gain." Similar proportions of a capital loss will be "allowable capital loss" that may be used to offset taxable capital gains in the year that the capital loss is sustained. To the extent the allowable capital loss is not offset against taxable capital gains in that year, it may be carried back three years and forward indefinitely to offset taxable capital gains realized in those years.

A holder that is a "Canadian-controlled private corporation" (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an additional refundable tax of 6 2/3 % on certain investment income, including amounts in respect of interest and taxable capital gains. The 6 2/3% tax is to be added to such Fund's refundable dividend tax on hand account and will be eligible for refund at a rate of \$1.00 for every \$3.00 of taxable dividends paid by the Corporation.

### C. Interest on Money Borrowed to Purchase Shares

An investor will generally be entitled to deduct from his/her income reasonable interest paid or payable with respect to monies borrowed to acquire Shares, provided he/she has a reasonable expectation of profit from holding the Shares. Interest expense deducted by an investor will be included in computing his cumulative net investment losses.

After the disposition of a Share by a taxpayer, reasonable interest expense on money borrowed for the purpose of acquiring that Share will generally continue to be deductible until the borrowing is repaid, regardless of whether a gain or loss was realized on the disposition of the Share, except to the extent any proceeds of disposition attributable to that borrowed money are used to make personal expenditures by the taxpayer or are not otherwise used for the purpose of earning income.

### D. Alternative Minimum Tax

Taxable capital gains realized by a holder that is an individual, including certain trusts, may give rise to alternative minimum tax depending upon the holder's circumstances.

### Deferred Income Plans (RRSPs, RRIFs, Deferred Profit Sharing Plans)

### A. Eligibility for Investment by Deferred Income Plans

As long as the Corporation is qualified as a MIC under the Tax Act, the Shares will be qualified investments for trusts governed by a registered retirement savings plan ("RRSP"), deferred profit sharing plans, and registered retirement income funds, provided the Corporation does not hold any debt of an annuitant or a related party.

If the Corporation fails to qualify as a MIC at any time in a taxation year, the Shares may cease to be a qualified investment for a Deferred Income Plan. When a Deferred Income Plan holds a non-qualified investment at the end of a month, the trust governed by the plan will be subject to a tax of 1% of the fair market value of the investment at the time it was acquired. If the Deferred Income Plan in question is a tax-free savings account, a tax of 50% of the fair market value of the Shares of the Corporation will apply against the holder if the Corporation fails to qualify as a MIC, or at any time if the Shares become a prohibited or non-qualified investment for a Deferred Income Plan that is a tax-free savings account.

Additionally, while a Deferred Income Plan that is a tax-free savings account holds a prohibited investment, the holder will also be subject to an additional tax that is based on income earned from the prohibited investment.

### B. Interest Expense Regarding RRSP Contributions

Interest and other borrowing costs incurred by a Shareholder for the purpose of making a contribution to an RRSP are not deductible. Therefore, if a Shareholder holds Shares in an RRSP, the Shareholder would not be eligible to deduct from his income any interest expense on money borrowed for the purpose of acquiring the Shares held in the RRSP.

### C. Distributions Received From Issuer by RRSP

As noted, taxable dividends are deemed to be interest income to the Shareholder, which together with one half of capital gains dividends are added to the Shareholder's taxable income if the Shares are held personally by the Shareholder. Such distributions paid on Shares held by an RRSP, however, will not be subject to tax in the hands of the RRSP, provided the RRSP has not borrowed money or carried on business and the annuitant under the RRSP is alive. An RRSP will not carry on business merely by holding Shares. The distributions paid to the RRSP will be taxable to the annuitant under the RRSP on withdrawal of the funds from the RRSP, which must occur no later than the year the annuitant becomes 69 years old.

### D. RRSP Contribution Limits

An individual may contribute cash or eligible property (such as a Share) to an RRSP in a calendar year or within 60 days after the end of the year, and may claim a deduction for that calendar year to the extent that the amount contributed does not exceed the limited specified by CRA. The amount of an individual's contribution will be equal to the fair market value of any property contributed as of the date of contribution. A seven year carry forward of unused RRSP deduction room is available in the event contributions made to an RRSP for a particular year are less than the allowable contribution for that year.

The transfer of a Share to an RRSP will result in the deemed disposition for income tax purposes at an amount equal to the fair market value of the Share at the time of the transfer. For an individual Shareholder who holds a Share as capital property, the disposition will result in a capital gain equal to the excess of the fair market value of the Share over its adjusted cost base. Should the fair market value of the Share be

less than its adjusted cost base upon contribution to the RRSP, no capital loss will be allowed.

Funds or properties withdrawn from an RRSP are taxable to the annuitant under the RRSP in the year of withdrawal. The amount of any non-qualified investment acquired by an RRSP in a year is included in the income of the annuitant for the year.

Each prospective investor is advised to seek independent advice in respect of the income tax consequences of his participation in the Corporation, taking into account his own particular circumstances.

# **ITEM 7: COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS**

All Group Financial Services Inc. has been retained as an agent (the "Agent") in respect of the Offering.

A commission will be paid to the Agent not exceeding 3% of the gross purchase price of the number of Shares, subscribed for by an investor who has purchased their Shares through the Agent and its sub-agents, plus 0.75% in the first year, 1.00% in the second year, and thereafter, 1.25% per year for each year that such investor retains those Shares. The commissions associated with selling and holding the Shares over time shall be paid for by the Manager.

The Corporation may enter into commission agreements with other registered dealers, exempt market dealers, investment fund managers or restricted portfolio managers, or a referral fee or finders fee in those jurisdictions where permitted by applicable securities legislation, during the course of the offering. The commissions and fees payable may be the same or different than those offered to the Agent, but the amounts negotiated will not exceed commissions normally paid in the securities industry.

Neither the Manager nor any of its directors, officers or shareholders, will be directly compensated due to the sale of any of the Corporation's shares.

# **ITEM 8: RISK FACTORS**

### 8.1 General

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Shares and in the activities of the Corporation, which investors should carefully consider before investing in the Shares. The following is a summary only of the risk factors. Prospective investors should review the risks relating to an investment in the Shares with their legal and financial advisors.

The Corporation advises that prospective Subscribers should consult with their own independent professional legal, tax, investment and financial advisors before purchasing Shares in order to determine the appropriateness of this investment in relation to their financial and investment objectives and in relation to the tax consequences of any such investment.

This purchase of Shares is suitable only for investors who are aware of the risks inherent in the real estate industry and who have the ability and willingness to accept the risk of loss of their invested capital and who have no immediate need for liquidity.

In addition to the factors set forth elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum, prospective investors should consider the following risks before purchasing Shares. Any or all of these risks, or other as yet unidentified risks, may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, and/or the return to the investors.

### 8.2 Investment Risk

Risks that are specific to the Shares being offered under this Offering include the following:

- 1. **No Market for Shares** There is no market through which Shares may be sold and the Corporation does not expect that any market will develop pursuant to this Offering or in the future. The Shares are subject to resale restrictions under applicable securities legislation. See Item 10, Resale Restrictions, regarding resale restrictions applicable to the Shares.
- 2. **Resale Restriction** The Shares are subject to resale restrictions under Applicable Securities Laws. Such resale restrictions may never expire and Subscribers should consult with their professional advisors in respect of such resale restrictions. See Item 10.
- 3. **Redemption Liquidity** –The Shares are redeemable, meaning that investors have the right to require the Corporation to redeem them, upon appropriate advance notice from the investor to the Corporation. The redemption timings are measured from the date on which the investor is issued the Shares to the date on which the investor is entitled to request redemption by the Corporation. There are limits on redemption. The Corporation provides no assurance that any Subscriber will be able to redeem any or all of their Shares at any time. Redemption of the Shares is subject to the Corporation having access to sufficient excess cash, or other liquid assets, and being in compliance with applicable corporate and securities legislation, and is subject to the terms in this Offering Memorandum, all as determined solely by the Corporation. See Item 5.1, Terms of Securities. Redemption of the Shares are subject to the Corporation generation as a MIC as defined by the Tax Act, all as determined solely by the Manager. Accordingly this investment may be unsuitable for those prospective investors who require greater liquidity.
- 4. Absence of Management Rights The Shares being sold under this Offering do not carry voting rights, and consequently an investor's investment in Shares does not carry with it any right to take part in the control or management of the Corporation's business, including the election of directors. In assessing the risks and rewards of an investment in Shares, potential investors should appreciate that they are relying solely on the good faith, judgment and ability of the directors, officers and employees of the Corporation and the Manager to make appropriate decisions with respect to the management of the Corporation, and that they will be bound by the decisions of the Corporation's directors, and the Manager's directors, officers and employees. It would be inappropriate for investors unwilling to rely on these individuals to this extent to purchase Shares.
- 5. Lack of Separate Legal Counsel The investors, as a group, have not been represented by separate counsel. Neither counsel for the Corporation nor counsel for the Manager purport to have acted for the investors nor to have conducted any investigation or review on their behalf.
- 6. **No Insurance** The Corporation is not a member institution of the Canada Deposit Insurance Fund and the Shares offered pursuant to this Offering Memorandum are not insured against loss through the Canada Deposit Insurance Fund.
- 7. No Guaranteed Return The income generated by the Corporation is primarily from mortgages. The yield on mortgages depend on many factors including economic conditions, prevailing interest rates, the level of risk assumed, conditions in the real estate industry, legislation, regulation, and opportunities for other types of investments. The Corporation cannot predict the effect such factors will have on its operations, and therefore cannot guarantee that the current dividend level will be maintained.
- 8. **Restrictions on Ownership** Under the Tax Act, no individual may acquire more than 25% of Shares of the Corporation.

- 9. **Geographic Concentration Risk** The mortgages of the Corporation can be concentrated in certain geographies. Changes to many factors including economic conditions, legislation, and regulation may affect the risk profile of a given geography.
- 10. **Seniority Risk** The mortgages of the Corporation are primarily in second position. There could be more risk associated with a default given a junior position. Additional expenses could include paying for senior mortgage interest costs, penalties, and legal expenses.
- 11. Use of Leverage The Corporation has the option to incur indebtedness to fund mortgages. The debt incurred may or may not be secured against the Corporation's assets. Successful utilization of leverage depends upon the Corporation's ability to borrow funds from outside sources and to lend or invest such funds at a profitable rate of return. There can be no assurance that the use of leverage will enhance returns, and it is possible that using leverage can adversely affect returns through potential losses.
- 12. **Foreclosure Risks** In addition to the initial costs associated with starting a foreclosure and potential losses due to changes in the value of the underlying property, there may be additional costs of owning a property until it is sold including property taxes, capital repair and replacement costs, maintenance costs, insurance costs, and third party mortgage costs.

### 8.3 Issuer Risk

Risks that are specific to the Corporation include the following:

- 1. MIC Tax Designation – The Corporation's directors shall use their commercially reasonable best efforts to ensure that the Corporation continues to be qualified as a MIC pursuant to the Tax Act. There can be no assurance, however, that the Corporation will be able to meet the Tax Act's MIC qualifications at all material times. As a company qualified as a MIC, the Corporation may deduct taxable dividends it pays from its income, and the normal gross-up and dividend tax credit rules will not apply to dividends paid by the Corporation on the Shares. Rather, the dividends will be taxable in the hands of shareholders as if they had received an interest payment. If for any reason the Corporation fails to maintain its MIC qualification in a particular year, the dividends paid by the Corporation on the Shares would cease to be deductible from the income of the Corporation for that year and the dividends it pays on the Shares would be subject to the normal gross-up and dividend tax credit rules. In addition, the Shares might cease to be qualified investments for trusts governed by RRSPs, deferred profit sharing plans and registered retirement income funds, with the effect that a penalty tax would be payable by the Subscriber.
- 2. **Reliance on the Manager** In accordance with the terms of the Financial Services Agreement between the Corporation and the Manager, the Manager has significant responsibility for assisting the Corporation to conduct its affairs. Any inability of the Manager to perform competently or on a timely basis will negatively affect the Corporation.
- 3. **Key Personnel** The operations of the Corporation and the Manager are highly dependent upon the continued support and participation of their key personnel. The loss of their services may materially affect the time or the ability of the Corporation to implement its business plan. The Manager's management team consists of several key personnel. In order to manage the Corporation successfully in the future, it may be necessary to further strengthen its management teams. The competition for such key

personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance of success in attracting, retaining, or motivating such individuals. Failure in this regard would likely have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and result of operations.

4. **Conflicts of Interest** – Conflicts of interest exist, and others may arise, between investors and the directors and officers of the Manager and the Corporation and their respective associates and affiliates.

There is no assurance that any conflicts of interest that may arise will be resolved in a manner most favorable to investors. Persons considering a purchase of Shares pursuant to this Offering must rely on the judgment and good faith of the directors, officers and employees of the Manager and the Corporation in resolving such conflicts of interest as may arise.

The Corporation and its shareholders are dependent in large part upon the experience and good faith of the Manager, which is entitled to earn fees for providing services to the Corporation. Officers and directors of the Manager may also serve from time to time as directors of the Corporation and/or members of any committees formed by the Corporation. The Manager is entitled to and does act in a similar capacity for other companies or individuals with investment criteria similar to those of the Corporation. As such, there is a risk the Manager will not be able to originate sufficient suitable investment opportunities to keep the Corporation's funds fully invested. Notwithstanding this fact, the Manager does not currently anticipate any material competition from other companies or individuals at this time to prevent the Corporation from satisfying its investment objectives. The Manager is an affiliate of the Corporation.

Several of the Corporation's mortgages may be and are shared with other investors affiliated or associated with the Manager, which parties may include managers, directors or staff of the Corporation and the Manager itself.

The Corporation's investment position may rank either equally with, in priority to, or subordinate to other members of the syndicate or participating investors.

The Corporation acknowledges that the Manager, as well as any of its directors, officers, shareholders, employees and affiliates may purchase with their own funds and own as a co-lender a percentage interest in an investment that the Manager presents to the Corporation for acquisition, and that the Manager may also sell undivided percentage interests in any such investment opportunities to other co-lenders.

The Corporation acknowledges that the Manager, as well as any of its directors, officers, shareholders, employees and affiliates have and may acquire, interests in other companies, joint ventures, limited partnerships, and/or MICs which are presently or may in the future be actively engaged in a similar business as the Corporation.

The Corporation also acknowledges that the Manager or its affiliates may hold a subordinate position in a mortgage which is presented to the Corporation and the rate of return on such subordinated position may vary from the Corporation's rate of return which variation will be dependent on the Corporation's risk position relative to the other investors.

5. **Future Operations and Possible Need for Additional Funds -** The Corporation anticipates that a substantial portion of the net proceeds of this Offering will be expended by the Corporation in investing in residential mortgages, and also anticipates that the net

proceeds of the Offering and anticipated cash flow from operating revenues will be sufficient to carry out the Corporation's business plan. Notwithstanding this, certain uninsurable or uninsured events may transpire which can substantially reduce the ability of the Corporation to carry on business in a profitable manner.

- 6. **Dilution** The number of Shares the Corporation is authorized to issue is unlimited and the directors of the Corporation have the discretion to issue additional Shares. In addition to alternate financing sources, the Corporation may conduct future offerings of Shares in order to raise funds required which may result in a dilution of the interests of the Shareholders in the Corporation.
- 7. Limited Operating History While the individual members of the Corporation's management team have experience in mortgage investment, the Corporation was formed in 2007 and accordingly only has a limited history of mortgage investment. The Corporation's operations are subject to the risks inherent in the establishment of a new investment activity, including a lack of operating history. The Corporation cannot be certain that its investment strategy will be successful. The likelihood of success of the Corporation must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays frequently encountered in connection with the establishment of any mortgage investment. If the Corporation fails to address any of these risks or difficulties adequately, its investment performance will likely suffer. There is no assurance that the Corporation can operate profitably or that the Corporation will successfully implement its plans.

### 8.4 Industry Risk

There are also risks faced by the Corporation because of the industry in which it operates. Real estate investment is subject to significant uncertainties due, among other factors, to uncertain costs of construction, development and financing, uncertainty as to the ability to obtain required licenses, permits and approvals, and fluctuating demand for developed real estate. The anticipated higher returns associated with the Corporation's mortgage loans reflect the greater risks involved in making these types of loans as compared to long-term conventional mortgage loans. Inherent in these loans are completion risks as well as financing risks. In addition, prospective investors should take note of the following:

- 1. **Insurance** The Corporation's mortgage loans will not usually be insured in whole or in part. As well, there are certain inherent risks in the real estate industry, some of which the Corporation may not be able to insure against or which the Corporation may elect not to insure due to the costs of such insurance. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted.
- 2. **Priority** Financial charges for construction and other financing funded by conventional third party lenders may rank in priority to the mortgages registered in favour of the Corporation. Although the Corporation will have all of the rights of the holder of a subsequent mortgage in this scenario, in the event of default by the mortgagor under any prior financial charge, the Corporation may not recover any or all the monies advanced.
- 3. **Default** If there is default on a mortgage, it may be necessary for the Corporation, in order to protect the investment, to engage in foreclosure or sale proceedings and to make further outlays to complete an unfinished project or to maintain prior encumbrances in good standing. In those cases, it is possible that the total amount recovered by the Corporation may be less than the total investment, resulting in loss to the Corporation. The directors intend to implement a policy of building up a "loan loss reserve" account to absorb such losses but there is no assurance that such losses will not exceed the amount set

aside in this account. Equity investment in real property may involve fixed costs in respect of mortgage payments, real estate taxes, and maintenance costs, which could adversely affect the Corporation's income.

- 4. **Yield** The yields on real estate investments, including mortgages, depend on many factors including economic conditions and prevailing interest rates, the level of risk assumed, conditions in the real estate industry, opportunities for other types of investments, legislation, government regulation and tax laws. The Corporation cannot predict the effect that such factors will have on its operations.
- 5. **Competition** The earnings of the Corporation depend on the Corporation's ability, with the assistance of the Manager, to locate suitable opportunities for the investment and reinvestment of the Corporation's funds and on the yields available from time to time on mortgages and other investments. The investment industry in which the Corporation operates is subject to a wide variety of competition from private businesses in Canada and the United States, many of whom have greater financial and technical resources than the Corporation. Although such competition, as well as any future competition, may adversely affect the Corporation's success in the marketplace, at the present time the Manager has no reason to believe that such competition will prevent the Corporation from successfully executing its business plan or operating profitably.
- 6. **Mortgage Renewals** There can be no assurances that any of the mortgages comprising the mortgage portfolio from time to time can or will be renewed at the same interest rates and terms when the same mature, or in the same amounts as are currently in effect. With respect to each mortgage comprising the mortgage portfolio, it is possible that the mortgagor, the mortgagee, or both will elect not to renew such mortgage. In addition, if the mortgages in the mortgage portfolio are renewed, the principal balance of such renewals, the interest rates and the other terms and conditions for such mortgages will be subject to negotiations between the mortgagors, the mortgagee, and the Manager at the time of renewal.
- 7. **Composition of Mortgage Portfolio** The composition of the mortgage portfolio may vary widely from time to time and may be concentrated by type of mortgage, industry, or geographic region, resulting in the mortgage portfolio being less diversified than anticipated. A lack of diversification may result in the Corporation being exposed to economic downturns or other events that have an adverse and disproportionate effect on particular types of mortgage, industry or geographic region.
- 8. **Appraisals** As a condition of funding all loans, the Corporation and the Manager will either require the production of an appraisal prepared by an accredited appraiser licensed to prepare appraisals, or in the alternative, from time to time the Manager may rely upon an opinion of value furnished by a realtor who may be equally or better equipped to provide an accurate evaluation of a particular property as a consequence of specialized expertise relating to that particular type of property or with respect to the particular geographic area in which the subject property is located. However preparing appraisals and/or real estate valuations is not an exact science, and there is no guarantee that any such appraiser or realtor relied upon by the Corporation will not make an error notwithstanding the experience, training and qualifications of such person. Such errors could result in the value of the underlying security with respect to any investment being less than what the Corporation believed it was causing a loss to the Corporation.
- 9. **Environmental** –Environmental legislation and policies have become an increasingly important feature of property ownership and management in recent years. Under various

laws, the Corporation could become liable for the costs of effecting remedial work necessitated by the release, deposit or presence of certain materials, including hazardous or toxic substances and wastes at or from a property, or disposed of at another location. The failure to effect remedial work may adversely affect an owners' ability to sell real estate or to borrow using the real estate as collateral and could result in claims against the owner.

- 10. **Changes in Government Regulations** The Corporation may need to change the manner in which it conducts business if government legislation or regulation changes, including in respect of the Tax Act as it pertains to MICs.
- 11. **Risks of Leverage** Successful utilization of leverage depends upon the Corporation's ability to borrow funds from outside sources and to lend or invest such funds at a profitable rate of return. The risk of leverage is that it increases the Corporation's exposure to potential losses.

# **ITEM 9: REPORTING OBLIGATIONS**

The Corporation is not subject to continuous reporting and disclosure obligations which the securities legislation in any province would require of a "reporting issuer" as defined in such legislation and there is therefore no requirement that the Corporation make disclosure of its affairs, including, without limitation, the prompt notification of material changes by way of press releases and formal filings or the preparation and filing of quarterly unaudited financial statements and annual audited financial statements.

You will receive the following ongoing documentary disclosure if you invest the Corporation:

**Annually** – You will receive a copy of the **audited financial statements** when the same are completed.

In each year, the Corporation will forward income tax reporting information necessary to enable a holder of Shares to file a Canadian federal income tax return within the prescribed time periods under the Tax Act.

# **ITEM 10: RESALE RESTRICTIONS**

The distribution of the Shares is being made on a private placement basis only and is exempt from the requirement that the Corporation prepare and file a prospectus with the relevant Canadian securities regulatory authorities in Canada. Accordingly, any resale of the Shares must be made in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws, which will vary depending on the relevant jurisdiction, and which may require a resale to be made in accordance with prospectus and registration requirements or exemptions from the prospectus and registration requirements. These resale restrictions may apply to any resale of the Shares, and may never expire. Investors are advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the Shares.

The Corporation is not, and does not presently intend to become, a "reporting issuer", as such term is defined under applicable Canadian securities laws, in any province or territory of Canada. Investors are advised that the Corporation is not required to file, and currently does not intend to file, a prospectus or similar document with any securities regulatory authority in Canada qualifying the resale of the Shares to the public in any province or territory of Canada.

For trades in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Quebec, Saskatchewan, Yukon, and Ontario:

Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities before the earlier of the date that is four (4) months and a day after the date the Corporation becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada.

The Corporation will not become a reporting issuer upon completion of this Offering and does not currently anticipate ever becoming a reporting issuer. The resale restriction on the securities may therefore never expire.

### For trades in Manitoba:

Unless permitted under securities legislation, you must not trade the securities without the prior written consent of the regulator in Manitoba unless:

(a) the Corporation has filed a prospectus with the regulator in Manitoba with respect to the securities you have purchased and the regulator in Manitoba has issued a receipt for that prospectus; or(b) you have held the securities for at least 12 months.

The regulator in Manitoba will consent to your trade if the regulator is of the opinion that to do so is not prejudicial to the public interest.

# Purchasers should consult their legal advisors to determine the resale restrictions, availability of further exemptions or the possibility of obtaining a discretionary order.

# **ITEM 11: PURCHASERS' RIGHTS**

If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For information about your rights you should consult a lawyer.

Securities legislation in certain of the Canadian provinces provides certain purchasers of securities pursuant to an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) with a remedy for damages or rescission, or both, in addition to any other rights they may have at law, where the offering memorandum and any amendment thereto contains a "misrepresentation", as defined in the applicable securities legislation to mean an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make any statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. These remedies, or notice with respect to these remedies, must be exercised or delivered, as the case may be, by the purchaser within the time limits prescribed by applicable securities legislation.

The following is a summary of the rights of action for damages or rescission, or both, available to certain purchasers resident in certain of the provinces of Canada.

### Purchasers in Ontario

Section 130.1 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), as amended (the "Ontario Act"), provides that every purchaser of securities pursuant to an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) shall have a statutory right of action for damages or rescission against the issuer and any selling security holder in the event that the offering memorandum contains a misrepresentation, as defined in the Ontario Act. A purchaser who purchases securities offered by the offering memorandum during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied upon the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages or, alternatively, while still the owner of the securities, for rescission against the issuer and any selling security holder provided that:

(a) if the purchaser exercises its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of action for damages as against the issuer and the selling security holders, if any;
(b) the issuer and the selling security holders, if any, will not be liable if they prove that the purchaser purchased the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation;

(c) the issuer and the selling security holders, if any, will not be liable for all or any portion of damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon;

(d) the issuer and the selling security holders, if any, will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if it proves that:

- (i) the offering memorandum contains, proximate to the forward-looking information, reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information, and a statement of material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; and
- (ii) it had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and projections set out in the forward-looking information; and
- (e) in no case shall the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the securities were offered.

Section 138 of the Ontario Act provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce these rights more than:

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action; or

- (b) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of:
  - (i) 180 days after the date that the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - (ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.

This Offering Memorandum is being delivered in reliance on the "accredited investor exemption" and the "minimum investment amount exemption" from the prospectus requirements contained under section 2.3 and section 2.10 of NI 45-106 and other exemptions as described herein. If the "offering memorandum exemption" of section 2.9 of NI45-106 as currently worded is adopted in Ontario, then, such exemption will also be relied upon.

The rights referred to in section 130.1 of the Ontario Act do not apply in respect of an offering memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) delivered to a prospective purchaser in connection with a distribution made in reliance on the accredited investor exemption if the prospective purchaser is:

- (a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank (each as defined in section 1.1 of NI 45-106);
- (b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of Canada Act (Canada); or
- (c) a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b), if the person owns all of the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of that subsidiary.

# For purchasers purchasing pursuant to an "Offering Memorandum Exemption" only:

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to us by midnight on the second business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities.

# Purchasers in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba

# Statutory rights in the event of a misrepresentation

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a statutory right to sue: (a) the Corporation to cancel your agreement to buy the Shares; or (b) for damages against:

a. if you are resident in Alberta or Manitoba:

i. the Corporation;

ii. every director of the Corporation at the date of this Offering Memorandum; and iii. every person or company who signed this Offering Memorandum; and

b. if you are resident in British Columbia:

i. the Corporation;

ii. every director of the Corporation at the date of this Offering Memorandum; and iii. every person who signed this Offering Memorandum.

c. if you are resident in Saskatchewan:

i. the Corporation;

ii. every promoter of the Corporation at the time this Offering Memorandum or any amendment was sent or delivered;

iii. every director of the Corporation at the time this Offering Memorandum or any amendment was sent or delivered;

iv. every person or company whose consent has been filed respecting this Offering, but only with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them;

v. every person who or company that, in addition to the persons or companies mentioned in paragraphs (b)(c.)(i) to (iv), signed this Offering Memorandum or any amendment; and

vi. every person who or company that sells Shares on behalf of the Corporation under this Offering Memorandum or any amendment.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defenses available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defense if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the Shares.

# Purchasers in New Brunswick

Section 2.1 of New Brunswick Securities Commission Rule 45-802 provides that the statutory rights of action in rescission or damages referred to in Section 150 of the Securities Act (New Brunswick) (the "NBSA") apply to information relating to an offering memorandum that is provided to an investor in securities in connection with a distribution made in reliance on the "offering memorandum" prospectus exemption in Section 2.9 of National Instrument 45-106, Prospectus and Registration Exemptions ("NI 45-106"). Section 150 of the NBSA provides that, subject to certain limitations, where any information relating to the offering that is provided to an investor of the securities contains an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made (for the purposes of this section, a "misrepresentation"), a purchaser who purchases securities shall be deemed to have relied on the

misrepresentation if it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase and the purchaser has, subject to certain defences, a right of action for damages against the seller or may elect to exercise a right of rescission against the seller, in which case the purchaser shall have no right of action for damages, provided that: (a) in an action for rescission or damages, the defendant will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation; (b) in an action for damages, the defendant is not liable for all or any portion of the damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon; and (c) in no case shall the amount recoverable under the right of action described herein exceed the price at which the securities were offered.

Every person or company who becomes liable to make any payment for a misrepresentation may recover a contribution from any person or company who, if sued separately, would have been liable to make the same payment, unless the court rules that, in all the circumstances of the case, to permit recovery of the contribution would not be just and equitable.

# Purchasers in Nova Scotia

In the event that this Offering Memorandum, a record incorporated by reference in or deemed incorporated into this Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it or any advertising or sales literature (as defined in the Securities Act (Nova Scotia)) contains a misrepresentation that was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, a purchaser of the Shares in Nova Scotia shall be deemed to have relied upon the misrepresentation and will have a statutory right of action for damages against the seller and against every director of the seller at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every person who signed this Offering Memorandum. Alternatively, the purchaser may elect to exercise a statutory right of rescission against the seller, in which case, the purchaser shall have no right of action for damages against the seller nor against every director of the seller at the date of this Offering Memorandum nor any person who signed this Offering Memorandum. The right of action of damages or rescission is exercisable not later than 120 days after the date on which payment was made for the Shares, provided that: (a) no company or person will be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Shares with knowledge of the misrepresentation; (b) in any action for damages, the defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of those damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Shares as a result of the misrepresentation; and (c) in no case will the amount recoverable under this paragraph exceed the price at which the Shares were sold to the purchaser.

The Securities Act (Nova Scotia) provides that no person is liable if it is proven that this Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto was sent or delivered to the purchaser without the person's knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person gave reasonable general notice that it was delivered without the person's knowledge or consent, or after the delivery of this Offering Memorandum or any amendment hereto and before the purchase of the Shares by the purchaser, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum or any amendment hereto, the person withdrew their consent to it and gave reasonable general notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it. This provision does not apply if the seller of the Shares is also the issuer. With respect to any part of this Offering Memorandum or any amendment hereto purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert which contains a misrepresentation, no person will be liable if the person had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that there had been a misrepresentation, or the relevant part of this Offering Memorandum or any amendment hereto, the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert. This provision does not apply if the seller of the report, opinion or statement of the shares is also the issuer.

The Securities Act (Nova Scotia) also provides that no person is liable with respect to any part of this Offering Memorandum or any amendment hereto not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, unless the person failed to

conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation or believed that there had been a misrepresentation. This provision does not apply if the seller of the Shares is also the issuer.

The rights of action for rescission or damages described herein are in addition to and not in derogation from any right the purchaser may have at law.

This summary is subject to the express provisions of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia) and the regulations and rules made under it, and prospective purchasers should refer to the complete text of those provisions.

# Purchasers in Prince Edward Island

If this Offering Memorandum, or any amendments thereto, delivered to a purchaser of the Shares resident in Prince Edward Island contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser in Prince Edward Island who purchases the Shares during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a statutory right of action for damages against (i) the Corporation (ii) every director of the Corporation at the date of the Offering Memorandum, and (iii) every person who signed the Offering Memorandum. Alternatively, the purchaser may elect to exercise a statutory right of action for rescission against the Corporation in which case, the purchaser shall have no right of action for damages against the Corporation, the directors and persons who signed the Offering Memorandum. If a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or deemed to be incorporated into, an Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, the misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, as the case may be.

All or any one or more of the persons who are found to be liable, or who accept liability, for a misrepresentation will be jointly and severally liable; provided, however, that the Corporation, and every director of the Corporation at the date of the Offering Memorandum, will not be liable if the Corporation does not receive any proceeds from the distribution of the Shares and the misrepresentation was not based on information provided by the Corporation, unless the misrepresentation: (a) was based on information that was previously publicly disclosed by the Corporation; (b) was a misrepresentation at the time of its previous disclosure; and (c) was not subsequently publicly corrected or superseded by the Corporation before completion of the distribution of the Shares.

Any person, including the Corporation, will not be liable for a misrepresentation if: (a) the person proves that the purchaser purchased the Shares with knowledge of the misrepresentation; or (b) in an action for damages, the person will not be liable for all or any part of those damages that the person proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Shares as a result of the misrepresentation; and (c) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the Shares were sold to the purchaser.

A person, other than the Corporation, will not be liable in an action for damages for a misrepresentation if the person proves that: (a) the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, was sent to the purchaser without the person's knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its being sent, the person promptly gave reasonable notice to the Corporation that it was sent without the knowledge and consent of the person; (b) the person, on becoming aware of the misrepresentation in the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, withdrew the person's consent to the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, and gave reasonable notice to the Corporation of the withdrawal and the reason for it; or (c) with respect to any part of the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, purporting to be made on the authority of an expert or purporting to be a copy of, or any extract from, a report, statement or opinion of an expert, the person had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that (i) there had been a misrepresentation, or (ii) the relevant part of the Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, (A) did not fairly represent the report, statement or opinion of the expert, or (B) was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, statement or opinion of the expert. In addition, a person, other than the Corporation, will not be liable in an action for damages for a misrepresentation with respect to any part of an Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, statement or opinion of an expert, unless the person: (a) failed to conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation; or (b) believed that there had been a misrepresentation.

Any person, including the Corporation, will not be liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information (as defined in the Securities Act (Prince Edward Island)) if the person proves that: (a) this Offering Memorandum, or any amendment thereto, contained, proximate to the forward-looking information, (A) reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and (B) identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information; and (b) a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; provided, however, that the foregoing does not relieve a person of liability with respect to forward-looking information in a financial statement required to be filed under Prince Edward Island securities laws.

The rights of action for rescission or damages described herein are in addition to and without derogation from any right the purchaser may have at law.

This summary is subject to the express provisions of the Securities Act (Prince Edward Island) and the regulations and rules made under it, and prospective purchasers should refer to the complete text of those provisions.

# Purchasers in Newfoundland and Labrador

In the event that this Offering Memorandum contains a misrepresentation when a person or company purchases a security offered by the offering memorandum, the purchaser has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action (a) for damages against (i) the issuer, (ii) every director of the issuer at the date of the Offering Memorandum, and (iii) every person or company who signed the offering memorandum; and (b) for rescission against the issuer. Where the purchaser elects to exercise a right of rescission against the issuer, the purchaser has no right of action for damages against a person or company referred to in (a).

Where a misrepresentation is contained in an Offering Memorandum, a person or company shall not be liable for damages or rescission: (a) where the person or company proves that the purchaser had knowledge of the misrepresentation; (b) where the person or company proves that the Offering Memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person's or company's knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its being sent, the person or company promptly gave reasonable notice to the issuer that it was sent without the knowledge and consent of the person or company; (c) if the person or company proves that the person or company, on becoming aware of the misrepresentation in the Offering Memorandum, withdrew the person's or company's consent to the Offering Memorandum and gave reasonable notice to the issuer of the withdrawal and the reason for it; (d) if, with respect to any part of the Offering Memorandum purporting to be made on the authority of an expert or purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, the person or company proves that the person or company did not have any reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that (i) there had been a misrepresentation, or (ii) the relevant part of the Offering Memorandum (A) did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or (B) was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert; and (e) with respect to any part of the Offering Memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, unless the person or company (i) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds

for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation, or (ii) believed there had been a misrepresentation. Items (b) to (e) do not apply to the issuer.

The amount recoverable shall not exceed the price at which the securities were offered under the Offering Memorandum.

In an action for damages, the defendant is not liable for all or any part of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the misrepresentation.

All or any one or more of the persons or companies specified found to be liable or accepting liability are jointly and individually liable. A person or company who is found liable to pay a sum in damages may recover a contribution, in whole or in part, from a person or company who is jointly and individually liable under this section who, if sued separately, would have been liable to make the same payment, provided that the court may deny the right to recover the contribution where, in all circumstances of the case, the court is satisfied that to permit recovery of the contribution would not be just and equitable.

The right of action for rescission or damages conferred by this section is in addition to and does not derogate from any other right that the purchaser may have at law.

Where a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or considered to be incorporated into, an Offering Memorandum, the misrepresentation is considered to be contained in the Offering Memorandum.

# Time limitations

If you intend to rely on the rights described above, you must do so within strict time limitations.

You must commence an action to cancel the agreement within:

(a) if you are resident in Alberta, 180 days from the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action;

(b) if you are resident in British Columbia, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, or Newfoundland and Labrador, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action;

(c) if you are resident in Nova Scotia.180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action, but in no event later than 120 days after the date on which payment was made for the Shares.

You must commence an action for damages within:

- (a) if you are resident in Alberta, the earlier of:
  - a. 180 days from the date that you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 3 years from the day of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (b) if you are resident in British Columbia, the earlier of:
  - a. 180 days after you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 3 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (c) if you are resident in Saskatchewan, the earlier of:
  - a. 1 year after you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 6 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (d) if you are resident in Manitoba, the earlier of:
  - a. 180 days after the date you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or

- b. 2 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (e) if you are resident in New Brunswick, the earlier of:
  - a. 1 year after you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 6 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (f) if you are resident in Nova Scotia, the earlier of:

a. 180 days after the date you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or b. 3 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action,

but, in either case, in no event later than 120 days after the date on which payment was made for the Shares.

- (g) if you are resident in Prince Edward Island, the earlier of:
  - a. 180 days after you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 3 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.
- (h) if you are resident in Newfoundland and Labrador, the earlier of:
  - a. 180 days after you first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or
  - b. 3 years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.

**For purchasers under the Offering Memorandum exemption:** If the securities legislation where you are resident does not provide statutory rights of action in the event of a misrepresentation in an offering memorandum delivered under this section, this offering memorandum grants you, the purchaser, a contractual right of action against the Corporation for rescission or damages that:

(a) is available to you if the offering memorandum, or any information or documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the offering memorandum, contains a misrepresentation, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation,

(b) is enforceable by you delivering a notice to the issuer (i) in the case of an action for rescission, within 180 days after you sign the agreement to purchase the security, or (ii) in the case of an action for damages, before the earlier of A) 180 days after you first have knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or B) 3 years after the date you sign the agreement to purchase the security,

(c) is subject to the defence that you had knowledge of the misrepresentation,

(d) in the case of an action for damages, provides that the amount recoverable (i) must not exceed the price at which the security was offered, and (ii) does not include all or any part of the damages that the Corporation proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the security resulting from the misrepresentation, and

(e) is in addition to, and does not detract from, any other right you, as the purchaser, may have.

# **ITEM 12: PERSONAL INFORMATION**

Each resident of Ontario who purchases the Shares will be deemed to have represented to the Corporation and each dealer from whom a purchase confirmation is received, that such purchaser:

(a) has been notified by the Corporation:

(i) that the Corporation may be required to provide personal information pertaining to the purchaser as required to be disclosed in Schedule I of Form 45-106F1 under NI 45-106

(including its name, address, telephone number and the aggregate purchase price of any Shares purchased) ("**personal information**"), which Form 45-106F1 may be required to be filed by the Corporation under NI 45-106;

- (ii) that such personal information may be delivered to the Ontario Securities Commission (the "OSC") in accordance with NI 45-106;
- (iii) that such personal information is collected indirectly by the OSC under the authority granted to it under the securities legislation of Ontario;
- (iv) that such personal information is collected for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the securities legislation of Ontario; and
- (v) that the public official in Ontario who can answer questions about the OSC's indirect collection of such personal information is the Administrative Assistant to the Director of Corporate Finance at the OSC, Suite 1903, Box 55, 20 Queen Street West, Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8, Telephone: (416) 593-8086; and

(b) has authorized the indirect collection of the personal information by the OSC. Furthermore, each investor acknowledges that its name, address, telephone number and other specified information, including the aggregate purchase price paid by the investor, may be disclosed to other Canadian securities regulatory authorities and may become available to the public in accordance with the requirements of applicable Canadian laws. By purchasing the Shares, each investor consents to the disclosure of such information.

Residents of other provinces and territories of Canada likewise are required to consent to the collection of such information and the making of such disclosure by the Corporation to the OSC and, or, to the securities regulatory authorities of such jurisdictions.

# **ITEM 13: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE ISSUER**

The audited financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2014 are set forth below.

See attached

# **ITEM 14: DATE AND CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER**

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation.

Dated this 1st day of May, 2015. Chris Couprie, Chief Executive Officer and Director Sheri Kosturik, President and Director

Jaime Vilas, Chief Marketing Officer and Director

Sam Singal, Secretary and Director

Sasha Singal, Director

# Secure Capital MIC Inc. Financial Statements December 31, 2014

Management of Secure Capital MIC Inc. is responsible for the preparation, fair presentation and integrity of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In order to meet its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The Board of Directors (the "Board") is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial statements. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with management and external auditors. The Board is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the Company's external auditors.

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Professional Accountants, is appointed by the shareholders to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Board and management to discuss their audit findings.

March 26, 2015

Chris Couprie Chief Executive Officer

# **Independent Auditors' Report**



To the Shareholders of Secure Capital MIC Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Secure Capital MIC Inc., which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, and the statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares and equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Secure Capital MIC Inc. as at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, and its results of operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

MNPLLP

Toronto, Ontario March 26, 2015 Chartered Professional Accountants Licensed Public Accountants





ACCOUNTING > CONSULTING > TAX 111 RICHMOND STREET W, SUITE 300, TORONTO, ON M5H 2G4 1.877.251.2922 P: 416.596.1711 F: 416.596.7894 mnp.ca

# Secure Capital MIC Inc. Statements of Financial Position

As at:

	I	December 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	January 1, 2013
Assets				
Cash	\$	386,970	1,754,989	376,337
Mortgage loans, including mortgage syndications (note 6)		19,055,644	14,212,214	12,959,836
Accrued interest receivable		372,440	282,890	274,418
Subscriptions receivable		62,000	-	
Foreclosed property held for sale (note 7)		40,293	-	
Total Assets	\$	19,917,347	16,250,093	13,610,591
Equity				
Voting common share capital (note 9)	\$	1,000	4	4
Total Equity		1,000	4	4
Liabilities				
Loans payable (note 8)	\$	1,625,000	25,000	-
Non-recourse mortgage syndication liability (note 6)		200,000	-	
Prepaid mortgage loan interest		101,201	165,150	213,155
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		263,899	159,084	5,051
Due to manager (note 10)		437,312	603,563	132,523
Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares)		2,627,412	952,797	350,729
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares (note 9)	\$	17,288,935	15,297,292	13,259,858

Approved by the Board of Directors for release on March 26, 2015

"Sam Singal" Director

"Chris Couprie" Director

Secure Capital MIC Inc. Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income For the year ended December 31:

	2014	2013
Interest income		
Interest and fee income	\$ 2,369,448	\$ 1,892,352
Less: Interest expense on non-recourse mortgage syndications	10,000	-
Net interest income	2,359,448	1,892,352
Expenses		
Provision (recovery) for mortgage loan losses (note 6)	491,169	(20,565)
Underwriting fees (note 10)	462,467	812,552
Professional fees	67,604	41,706
Administrative charges	8,399	24,831
Total expenses	1,029,639	858,524
Income from operations	1,329,809	1,033,828
Financing costs		
Dividends to holders of redeemable shares (note 9)	1,276,885	1,033,828
Interest on loans payable (note 8)	52,924	-
Total financing costs	1,329,809	1,033,828
Net income and comprehensive income	\$ -	\$-

Secure Capital MIC Inc. Statements of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable shares and Equity For the year ended December 31:

	2014	2013
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable Class A preferred shares, January 1	\$ 15,297,292	\$13,259,858
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable shares	4,708,552	4,324,769
Issuance of redeemable shares under dividend reinvestment plan	290,906	357,733
Redemption of redeemable shares	(3,007,815)	(2,645,068)
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable Class A preferred shares, December 31	\$ 17,288,935	\$15,297,292
	2014	2013

Equity, January 1	\$ 4	\$ 4
Issuance of voting common shares	 996	-
Equity, December 31	\$ 1,000	\$ 4

Secure Capital MIC Inc. Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31:

		2014	2013
Cash flows related to the following activities:			
Operating activities			
Net income and comprehensive income	\$	-	-
Amortization of lender fees		(177,038)	-
Financing costs Change in non-cash operating items:		1,329,809	1,033,828
Allowance for mortgage losses, net of chargeoffs and recoveries		103,320	(635,539)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		96,525	154,033
Due to manager		(166,251)	471,040
Accrued interest receivable		(89,550)	(8,472)
Prepaid mortgage interest		(63,949)	(48,005)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities	\$	1,032,865	966,545
Financing activities Proceeds from issuance of redeemable shares (net of subscription receivable of \$62,000, 2013 nil) Redemption of Class A redeemable shares Cash dividends on redeemable shares Loan advances Interest on loans payable Proceeds from issuance of voting shares Net cash flows generated from financing activities	\$	4,646,552 (3,007,815) (985,978) 1,600,000 (44,634) <u>996</u> 2,209,121	4,324,769 (2,645,068) (676,095) 25,000 - - 1,028,606
Net cash hows generated from manoning activities	Ψ	2,200,121	1,020,000
Investing activities			
Funding of mortgage loans, net of mortgage syndications	\$	(16,981,717)	(8,696,377)
Discharge of mortgage loans, net of mortgage syndications		12,171,712	8,079,878
Mortgage syndication liability		200,000	-
Net cash flows used in investing activities	\$	(4,610,005)	(616,499)
Net increase in cash	\$	(1,368,019)	1,378,652
Cash, beginning of period	\$	1,754,989	376,337
Cash at end of period	\$	386,970	1,754,989

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

#### 1. Incorporation and operations

Secure Capital MIC Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of Ontario on January 23, 2007. The registered office of the Company is 28 Fulton Way, Richmond Hill, Ontario L4B 1J5. The Company's objective is to generate income while preserving, for its beneficial shareholders, capital for re-investment. The Company operates as a Canadian mortgage investment corporation ("MIC") as defined in the Income Tax Act. The Company is managed by Secure Capital MIC Management Inc. (the "Manager").

#### 2. Basis of preparation

#### Statement of compliance

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). The Company adopted this basis of accounting in 2014. These financial statements are the first IFRS annual consolidated financial statements of the Company and IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS 1") has been applied, as discussed in note 14. The date of transition to IFRS is January 1, 2013.

The financial statements of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2014 were approved by the Board of Directors on March 26, 2015.

#### **Basis of measurement**

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for foreclosed properties held for sale which are measured at fair value on each reporting date.

#### Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's functional currency.

#### 3. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

#### Interest and fee income

Interest income is accounted for using the effective interest method. Lender fees received are an integral part of the yield on the mortgage loans and are amortized to the statement of income and comprehensive income over the expected life of the specific mortgage receivable using the effective interest method. Forfeited lender fees are taken to the statement of income and comprehensive income at the time a borrower has not fulfilled the terms and conditions of a lending commitment and payment has been received.

#### Mortgage loans

Mortgage loans including mortgage syndication loans are classified as loans and receivable financial instruments. Such loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Mortgage loans are assessed on each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is considered to be impaired only if evidence indicates that one or more events have occurred after its initial recognition, that has a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

The Company considers evidence of impairment for mortgage loans at both a specific and collective level. All individually significant mortgages are assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identifiable at an individual mortgage level. Mortgages that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together mortgages with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Company reviews historical trends of probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgments as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. An impairment loss in respect of a specific mortgage loan is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount including accrued interest and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the mortgage loan's original effective interest rate. Provisions for losses are recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive income and reflected in the allowance for loss account which is applied against the mortgage loans portfolio. Losses when known are reflected as a charge off to the allowance for losses when determinable. When a subsequent event causes the amount of an impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

#### 3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued from previous page)

#### Foreclosed property held for sale

When the Company obtains legal title of the underlying security of an impaired mortgage loan, the carrying value of the mortgage investment, which is comprised of principal, cost incurred, accrued interest and a provision for mortgage investment loss, if any, is reclassified from the mortgage loan portfolio to foreclosed properties held for sale ("FPHFS"). At each reporting date, FPHFS are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in profit or loss in the period they arise. The Company uses management's best estimate to determine fair value of the properties, which may involve frequent inspections, engaging realtors to assess market conditions based on previous property transactions or, retaining professional appraisers to provide independent valuations.

Contractual interest on the mortgage loan is discontinued from the date of transfer from mortgage loans to FPHS. Net income or loss generated from FPHFS (including fair value adjustments), if any, is recorded as net operating income or loss from FPHFS.

#### Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

#### Financial assets:

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss.

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers mortgage investments recognized on its statement of financial position, but retains either all, substantially all, or a portion of the risks and rewards of the transferred mortgage investments. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred mortgage or loan investments are not derecognized.

In transactions in which the Company neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Company continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

#### Financial liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

#### Income taxes

It is the intention of the Company to qualify as a mortgage investment corporation ("MIC") for Canadian income tax purposes. As such, the Company is able to deduct, in computing its income for a taxation year, dividends paid to its shareholders during the year or within 90 days of the end of the year. The Company intends to maintain its status as a MIC and pay dividends to its shareholders in the year and in future years to ensure that it will not be subject to income taxes. Accordingly, for financial statement reporting purposes, the tax deductibility of the Company's dividends results in the Company being effectively exempt from taxation and no provision for current or deferred taxes is required by the Company.

#### Share capital

Voting common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares, which include legal, accounting and brokerage commissions, are recognized as a deduction from equity.

#### **Redeemable shares**

The Company is authorized to issue multiple classes of shares, which are redeemable at the holder's option. The Company classifies financial instruments issued as either financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instrument. The shares are classified as financial liabilities and presented as "net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares" in the statement of financial position. Such shares can be put back to the Company on a monthly basis, subject to redemption and exchange privileges, as described in note 9.

Dividends payable to holders of redeemable shares are recognized in the financial statements of income and comprehensive income as financing costs when they are authorized and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

#### 3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued from previous page)

#### **Financial instruments**

Financial instruments are classified as one of the following: (i) fair value through profit and loss ("FVTPL"), (ii) loans receivables, (iii) held-to-maturity, (iv) available-for-sale, or (v) other liabilities. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, plus in the case of financial instruments not FVTPL any incremental direct transaction costs. Financial assets and liabilities classified as FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in profit and loss. Financial instruments classified as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables or other liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value and any unrealized gains and losses are recognized through other comprehensive income.

The Company has classified its financial assets and liabilities as follows:

	Classification	Measurement
Financial assets		
Cash	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost
Mortgage loans, including mortgage syndications	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost
Accrued interest receivable	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost
Subscription receivable	Loans and receivables	Amortized cost
Foreclosed properties held for sale	FVTPL	Fair value
Financial liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost
Due to related party	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost
Loans payable	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost
Prepaid mortgage interest	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost
Unearned lender fees	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost
Mortgage syndication liability	Other financial liabilities	Amortized cost

#### 4. Recent accounting pronouncements

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards were issued by the IASB or International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning after January 1, 2014 or later periods. The standards impacted that are applicable to the Company are as follows:

- i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments The IASB issued IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments" to replace IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". IFRS 9 uses as a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, and replaces the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 focuses on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model, as well as the contractual cash and cash equivalents flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods currently provided in IAS 39. In November 2013, the IASB has removed the mandatory effective date for IFRS 9. The new date will be determined when IFRS 9 is closer to completion. The effective date is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.
- ii) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers The IASB issued IFRS 15 to establish principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would result in an entity providing comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity's contracts with customers. This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

#### 5. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the amounts recognized in the financial statements are:

#### Allowance for mortgage loan losses:

The Company is required to make estimates and assumptions that relates to the allowance for mortgage losses. These estimates may include assumptions regarding local real estate market conditions, interest rates and the availability of credit, cost and terms of financing, the impact of present or future legislation or regulation, prior encumbrances and other factors affecting the mortgages and underlying security of the mortgages. These assumptions are limited by the availability of reliable comparable data, economic uncertainty and the uncertainty of predictions concerning future events. Illiquid credit markets and volatile equity markets have combined to increase the uncertainty inherent in such estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of impairment are subjective and do not necessarily result in precise determinations. Should the underlying assumptions change, the estimated fair value could vary a material amount. The Company estimates allowance for mortgage losses based on an assessment of the recoverability of mortgage loans. Allowances are applied to mortgage loans where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Management specifically analysed historical bad debts based on industry experience and current economic trends when making a judgment to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for mortgage losses. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of receivables.

#### 6. Mortgage loans

a) Mortgage loans

There are 411 mortgages (2013 - 265 mortgages) held which comprise first mortgages (2014 - 11%; 2013 - 11%) second mortgages (2014 - 88%; 2013 - 85%) and third mortgages (2014 - 1%; 2013 - 4%) secured by residential property in Canada. The average term of the loans are 12 months.

The weighted average interest rate on mortgage loan portfolio is 11.34% per annum (2013 - 13.26% per annum).

Mortgage loan investments consist of the following:

	December 31, 2014	December 31, 2013	January 1, 2013
Mortgage loans, including mortgage syndications	\$ 19,744,175	\$14,508,032	\$ 13,891,533
Less: Allowance for mortgage losses	(399,138)	(295,818)	(931,697)
Unearned lender fees	(289,393)	-	-
	\$ 19,055,644	\$ 14,212,214	\$ 12,959,836

### b) Allowance for losses on mortgages

Mortgage loans are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A mortgage loan is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of an asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company has recognized a provision for loss of \$ 491,169 (2013– a recovery of \$20,565) relating to impaired mortgage loans, which represents the total amount of the Manager's estimate of the shortfall between the principal balances, costs incurred and accrued interest and the estimated recoverable amount of the underlying security of the mortgage loan. Management considers the allowance for losses at December 31 of \$399,138 (2013- \$295,818; January 1, 2013- \$ 931,697) sufficient to cover estimated specific and collective losses at those times.

The allowance for losses on mortgage loans is comprised of the following:

	December 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Allowance for impairment losses on mortgages, beginning of year	\$ (295,818)	\$ (931,697)
(Provision) Recovery for mortgage loan losses	(491,169)	20,565
Charge-offs, net	387,849	615,314
	\$ (399,138)	\$ (295,818)

#### 6. Mortgage loans (continued from previous page)

C) Mortgage syndication liabilities

The Company has entered into certain mortgage participation agreements with mainly third party lenders using senior and subordinated participation, whereby the third party lenders take the senior position and the Company retains the subordinated position. Under certain participation agreements, the Company has retained a residual portion of the credit and/or default risk as it is holding the residual interest in the mortgage investment and therefore has not met the de-recognition criteria. As a result, the lender's portion of the mortgage is recorded as a mortgage investment with the transferred position recorded as a mortgage syndication liability. The interest and fees earned on the transferred participation interests and the related interest expense is recognized in profit and loss.

For those investments which have not met the derecognition criteria, the participation transactions have resulted in the Company recognizing the participating mortgages and corresponding non-recourse mortgage syndication liabilities on its statement of financial position. As at December 31, 2014 the carrying value of the transferred assets and corresponding non-recourse liabilities is \$200,000 (2013 – nil).

#### 7. Foreclosed property held for sale

As at December 31, 2014, there is one property with a fair value of approximately \$40,293 held for sale under foreclosure (December 31, 2014 – no properties). The fair value is based on estimates of fair value provided by realtors having with recent experience in the location of property being valued. The fair value measurements have been categorized as a level 3 fair value based on inputs to the valuation techniques used. The key valuation techniques used in measuring the fair values of the foreclosed properties is the direct sales comparison, where the fair value is based on comparison to recent sales of properties of similar types, locations and quality.

#### 8. Loans payable

	December 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Credit facility (a)	\$ 800,000	-
Private loans (b)	\$825,000	\$25,000
	\$1,625,000	\$25,000

(a) On November 4, 2014, the Company obtained a \$5,000,000 demand revolving credit facility with Sprott Bridging Income Fund LP, with an interest rate of prime + 7.5% per annum. The term of the loan is the earlier of the demand and 24 months. As at December 31, 2014 the balance payable was \$800,000 with accrued interest thereon of \$8,291. The purpose of the loan is to support working capital, management of the Company's liquidity and other permitted general corporate purposes of the Company. The provisions of the Company's credit facility impose restrictions, the most significant of which are maintenance of certain financial covenants based on eligible mortgage receivables. This facility is secured by a first general security agreement over the Company's assets.

(b) The Company obtained loans from private parties with interest rates ranging from 8-10% per annum. Interest is accrued and paid monthly. The term of the loans are 12 months from the date of advance and is repayable by the Company at any point during the term with one months' notice. As at December 31, 2014 the loan balance payable was \$825,000 (2013 - \$25,000) with paid interest of \$44,634 (2013 - \$200). \$600,000 of the loans are secured by the Company's assets, ranking behind the credit facilities in (a) above and (c) below.

(c) On February 22, 2013, the Company entered into a Demand Operating Facility Agreement with the Toronto Dominion Bank. The credit limit under this facility is at all times the lesser of \$1,000,000 and the total of 65% of the principal balances of first mortgages on eligible family residential properties up to a maximum of 75% of the property's appraised property value. The interest rate on borrowings is the Prime Rate + 2.150% per annum. At December 31, 2014 and 2013 the Company has not utilized this facility. The facility ranks second behind the credit facility in (a) above. Because it now ranks second, the facility has been reduced to \$1 at December 31, 2014.

### 9. Share capital

### Authorized shares

Authorized	Name
1,000	Voting Common Shares
Unlimited	Class A, B, C, D and E – Non-Voting Redeemable Shares

#### (a) Voting Common Shares

	2014			2013	
	Number of Shares	\$	Number of Shares	\$	
Share capital, beginning of year	4	4	4	4	
Shares issued for cash	996	996	-	-	
Share capital, end of year	1,000	1,000	4	4	

#### (b) Redeemable shares

Authorized redeemable shares have the following attributes:

Unlimited number of Class A Redeemable shares, non-voting, non-cumulative, redeemable, paying an annual dividend equal to 8% of the consideration paid for such shares.

Unlimited number of Class B Redeemable shares, non-voting, non-cumulative, redeemable, entitled to participate pari passu on each Dividend Payment date with the holders of Class D Redeemable shares, if any, and the holders of Class E Redeemable shares, if any, in the payment of non-cumulative preferential cash dividends in an aggregate amount equal to the net profits of all of the Company's funds other than that fund which invests only in first mortgages (commonly referred to as the 1<sup>st</sup> Mortgages Low-Risk Fund) after deduction of the preferred dividend payable hereunder on the Class A Redeemable shares.

Unlimited number of Class C Redeemable shares, non-voting, non-cumulative, redeemable, entitled to receive dividends in an amount per share equal to the net profits of that fund which invests only in first mortgages and is commonly referred to as the 1<sup>st</sup> Mortgages Low-Risk Fund.

Unlimited number of Class D Redeemable shares, non-voting, non-cumulative, redeemable, entitled to participate pari passu on each Dividend Payment Date with the holders of Class B Redeemable shares, if any, and the holders of Class E Redeemable shares, if any, in the payment of non-cumulative preferential cash dividends in an aggregate amount equal to the Funds' Net Profits. Each holder of Class D Redeemable shares shall not transfer or assign its interest in such shares within one year of the date on which such shares were issued.

Unlimited number of Class E Redeemable shares, non-voting, non-cumulative, redeemable, entitled to participate pari passu on each Dividend Payment Date with the holders of Class B Redeemable shares, if any, and the holders of Class D Redeemable shares, if any, in the payment of non-cumulative preferential cash dividends in an aggregate amount equal to the Funds' Net Profits. The amount of the foregoing dividends payable to the holders of Class E Redeemable shares shall then increase by 2%. Each holder of Class E Redeemable shares shall not transfer or assign its interest in such shares within five years of the date on which such shares were issued.

#### 9. Share capital (continued from previous page)

#### Redemption policy

Shareholders may, by giving written notice to the Company, request that the Company redeem the whole or any part of the preferred shares held by the shareholder. On the last business day of the calendar month, which is two full months following the month in which the redemption notice is given, the Company will be required to redeem the preferred shares specified in the redemption notice. The redemption price for each Class A Redeemable share will be the book value calculated using the unaudited monthly balance sheet for the month during which the redemption notice is given plus the pro rata share of any distributions on such redeemable shares which have accrued up to and including the date of redemption, which price will be paid within 10 days of the date of redemption.

The Company will not redeem Class A Redeemable shares in extraordinary circumstances where: i) the redemption by shareholders represented greater than 25% of the redeemable shares issues and outstanding as at the beginning of the fiscal year during which such redemption notices are given; or ii) redemption of the aggregate number of redeemable shares subject to any redemption notices given in a calendar month would result in a number of preferred shares which is greater than 5% of the redeemable shares issued and outstanding as at the beginning of the current fiscal discretion waive either or both of the aforementioned limitations for and date of redeemption, and failing such waiver, redeemable shares which are subject to Redemption Notices given in any one calendar month will be redeemed on a basis which is pro rata to the number of redeemable shares subject to such redemption request is less than 1 year after the date that the redeemable shares were issued; the redemption fee will be 3%.

#### Issued and outstanding – Class A – Non-Voting Redeemable Shares

	2014	2013
Redeemable shares outstanding, beginning of year	15,297,292	13,259,858
Issued for cash	4,708,552	4,324,769
Issuance of redeemable shares under dividend reinvestment plan	290,906	357,733
Redeemed for cash	(3,007,815)	(2,645,068)
Redeemable shares outstanding, end of year	17,288,935	15,297,292

#### Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The dividend reinvestment plan (the "DRIP") provides eligible beneficial and registered holders of redeemable shares of the Company with a means to reinvest dividends declared and payable on such redeemable shares in additional redeemable shares. For the year ended December 31, 2014, 290,906 redeemable shares were issued under the DRIP for \$290,906 (2013 -357,733 redeemable shares issued for \$357,733).

#### 10. Related party transactions

Secure Capital MIC Management Inc. ("Manager") provides mortgage underwriting and related services for the Company under a three year agreement dated March 5, 2014. Its responsibilities include providing the Company with mortgages or interests in mortgages, oversee day-to-day operations, pay expenses relating to the provision of services including the cost of the company's Offering Memorandum.

Under the agreement for underwriting services, the Manager is annually allocated a portion of the total income earned from the Company's mortgage loans after dividends on redeemable shares, financing costs and expenses. Balances due to the Manager are non-interest bearing, unsecured and without any specific terms of repayment

The Manager directs the affairs and manages the Company's business and administers or arranges for the administration of the Company's operations. Accordingly, the Company has no employment agreement with members of management.

### 11. Income taxes

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for income tax purposes of \$32,610 (December 31, 2013 – \$111,455) which will expire during 2033 and 2034 if not used. The Company also has future deductible temporary differences resulting from share issuances, prepaid mortgage and loan interest, unearned lender fees and financing costs for income tax purposes of \$430,508 (December 31, 2013 – \$194,732).

#### 12. Capital Management

As a mortgage investment corporation, the Company expects to derive its earnings principally from the receipt of mortgage interest and fee payments less dividends, other financing costs, expenses and amounts allocated to the Manager.

The Company achieves its investment objective by lending on the security of mortgages on real properties situated in Canada. The mortgages transacted by the Company will not generally meet the underwriting criteria of conventional lenders and/or involve borrowers in rural areas generally not well serviced by major lenders. As a result, the Company's investments are expected to earn a higher rate of interest than what is generally obtainable through conventional mortgage lending activities.

Moreover, management regularly monitors its available cash to ensure that it has adequate cash resources to ensure the payment of dividends to its investors; to finance additions to its mortgage portfolio and for the payment of share capital redemptions. For unusual circumstances, the Company has redemption policies in place to restrict the payout of capital share redemptions.

The Company has entered into loan and credit financing agreements in order to provide additional financing for mortgage loans as required from time to time.

# 13. Financial instruments

The Company, as part of its operations, carries financial instruments consisting of cash, mortgage loans, accrued interest receivable, Subscriptions receivable, foreclosed property held for sale, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to related party, loans payable, prepaid mortgage interest, unearned lender fees, and mortgage syndication liability. It is management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit, interest, currency and liquidity risks arising from these financial instruments except as otherwise disclosed.

### Fair value

Fair value represents the price at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an orderly market, in an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The Company classifies the fair value of the financial instruments according to the following hierarchy based on the amount of observable inputs used to value the instrument.

Level 1: Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in the active market for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

December 24, 2014	Loans and		Other financial	
December 31, 2014	receivable	FVTPL	liabilities	Fair Value
Assets not measured at fair value				
Cash	\$386,970			\$386,970
Mortgage loans	19,055,644			19,055,644
Foreclosed property held for sale (level 3)		\$40,293		40,293
Accrued interest receivable	372,440			372,440
Subscriptions receivable	62,000			62,000
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities			\$263,899	263,899
Due to manager			437,312	437,312
Loans payable			1,625,000	1,625,000
Prepaid mortgage loan interest			101,201	101,201
Mortgage syndication liability			200,000	200,000

Level 2: Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

### 13. Financial instruments (continued from previous page)

December 31, 2013	Loans and receivable	FVTPL	Other financial liabilities	Fair Value
Assets not measured at fair value Cash	\$1,754,989			\$1,754,989
Mortgage loans	14,212,214			14,212,214
Accrued interest receivable	282,890			282,890
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities			\$159,084	159,084
Due to manager			603,563	603,563
Loans payable			25,000	25,000
Prepaid mortgage loan interest			165,150	165,150

	Loans and		Other financial	
January 1, 2013	receivable	FVTPL	liabilities	Fair Value
Assets not measured at fair value Cash	\$376,337			\$376,337
Mortgage loans	12,959,836			12,959,836
Accrued interest receivable	274,418			274,418
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities			5,051	5,051
Due to manager			132,523	132,523
Prepaid mortgage loan interest			213,155	213,155

The fair value of cash is determined on level 1 inputs. The carrying amount of cash approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of this item. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 inputs during the period.

#### Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that mortgagors may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their mortgage commitments. The Company mitigates this risk by having lending policies in place that ensure mortgages are secured and by limiting exposure to any one mortgagor.

### Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of the collateral securing any of the Company's mortgage investments falls to a level approaching the loan amount. Management ensures that it is aware of the real estate market conditions in the regions of Canada in which it operates. Real estate market trends are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Company's lending practices, procedures and policies are adjusted when necessary.

#### For the year ended December 31, 2014 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)

#### 13. Financial instruments (continued from previous page)

#### Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that at the end of a mortgage's term it will be re-priced to a prevailing interest rate lower than the original one. This risk is mitigated by the fact that the Company is not as exposed to market mortgage rates because there is no specific market for mortgages of similar type, term and credit risk. This has allowed the Company to renew its mortgages at competitive rates. The Company has entered into loan and credit financing agreements in order to provide additional financing for mortgage loans as required from time to time. Interest on these facilities varies with changes in the prime rate of interest. If the prime rate increased or decreased by 1% during the period, with all other factors remaining consistent, interest expense could have increased or decreased by approximately \$1,300 (December 31, 2013 – nil) respectively. In practice, the actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.

### **Currency risk**

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company's mortgages will fluctuate based on changes in foreign currency exchange rates. All the Company's mortgages are denominated in Canadian dollars and secured by charges on real estate located in Canada; consequently, the Company is not subject to currency risk.

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations and commitments as they fall due. The Company's approach is to ensure that it will have sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed circumstances. The Company has entered into loan and credit financing agreements in order to provide additional financing for mortgage loans as required from time to time. In addition, the Company has policies in place that can restrict the total amount of share redemptions. Those restrictions permit share redemptions to be funded through the normal repayment of the mortgage loans.

### 14. Transition to IFRS

As discussed in note 2, these are the Company's first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, and the date of transition to IFRS (the "Transition Date") is January 1, 2014. IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of IFRS ("IFRS 1") has been applied.

Reconciliation of Statement of Net Assets on the Transition Date:

Assets	Notes	As reported under previous Canadian GAAP as at December 31, 2012	Adjustments	As reported under IFRS as at January 1, 2013
Cash		\$ 376,337	-	\$376,337
Mortgages and loan investments, including mortgage syndications	(a)	13,234,254	\$(274,418)	12,959,836
Accrued interest receivable	(a)	-	274,418	274,418
		13,610,591	-	13,610,591
Equity	(b)	13,259,862	(13,259,858)	4
Liabilities				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(a)	218,206	(213,155)	5,051
Due to manager		132,523	-	132,523
Prepaid mortgage and loan interest	(a)	-	213,155	213,155

Secure Capital MIC Inc.

# Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2014 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)

	350,729	-	350,729
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares	\$ -	\$13,259,858	\$13,259,858

**14. Transition to IFRS** (continued from previous page)

Reconciliation of Statement of Net Assets as at December 31, 2013:

		As reported under		
		previous Canadian GAAP as at		As reported under IFRS as at
Assets	Notes	December 31, 2013	Adjustment s	December 31, 2013
Cash		\$1,754,989	-	\$1,754,989
Mortgages and loan investments, including mortgage syndications	(a)	14,495,104	\$(282,890)	14,212,214
Accrued interest receivable	(a)	-	282,890	282,890
		16,250,093	-	16,250,093
Equity	(b)	15,297,296	(15,297,292)	4
Liabilities				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(a)	349,234	(190,150)	159,084
Due to manager		603,563	-	603,563
Loans payable		-	25,000	25,000
Prepaid mortgage and loan interest	(a)	-	165,150	165,150
		952,797	-	952,797
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares		\$-	\$15,297,292	\$15,297,292

There were no reconciliations for the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Notes to IFRS reconciliations:

IFRS 1 sets forth guidance for the initial adoption of IFRS. Under IFRS 1, the standards are applied retroactively with all adjustments to assets and liabilities taken to net asset attributable to holders of redeemable shares unless certain optional exemptions are elected and mandatory exceptions are applied.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company has applied the mandatory exception from full retrospective application of IFRS for "estimates". This mandatory exception requires that estimates made at the transition date, and in the comparative reporting periods, be consistent with estimates made under previous Canadian GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that the estimates made under previous Canadian GAAP, were in error. The Company has not elected any optional exemptions from the general requirement for the retrospective application of IFRS.

#### **14. Transition to IFRS** (continued from previous page)

#### (a) Mortgage loans

Under IFRS, the Company has elected to classify its mortgage portfolio as loans and receivables. Mortgage advances are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the mortgage loans are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

In converting to IFRS from previous Canadian GAAP, the Company has adjusted the presentation of its mortgage portfolio to segregate accrued interest receivable in the statement of financial position. Under previous Canadian GAAP, accrued interest receivable was a component of the mortgage loans.

As at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, the Company has reclassified accrued interest receivable of \$372,440, \$282,890 and \$274,418, respectively, from mortgage loans to conform to current year's IFRS presentation.

Under IFRS, as at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, the Company has adjusted the classification of prepaid mortgage and loan interest of \$101,201, \$165,150 and \$213,155, respectively, from mortgage loans to a separate component of liabilities in the statements of financial position.

(b) Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company accounted for its redeemable shares as equity. Under IFRS, IAS 32 requires that shares of an entity which includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to repurchase or redeem them for cash of another financial asset be classified as a financial liability. The Company's redeemable shares do not meet the criteria in IAS 32 for classification as equity and therefore have been reclassified as financial liabilities on transition to IFRS. The voting common shares of the Company meet the criteria for equity classification and are presented separately on the statements of financial position.

As at December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and January 1, 2013, the Company has reclassified redeemable shares of \$17,288,935, \$15,297,292 and \$13,259,858 respectively, from net assets, representing net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares.

(c) Reconciliation of statement of cash flows from Canadian GAAP to IFRS

Consistent with the Company accounting policy choice under IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, interest paid is classified as a financing activity and has been moved into the body of the statement of cash flows, where it was previously not disclosed.

#### 15. Subsequent Event

On December 23, 2014, the Company entered into a new underwriting agreement with Secure Capital Group Inc ("Manager"). The new agreement, effective January 1, 2015 has the Manager provide mortgage underwriting and related services for the Company under a three year agreement. Its responsibilities include underwriting and recommending mortgages or interests in mortgages; providing recommendations with respect to renewals or payouts of mortgages or interests in mortgages and pay expenses relating to the provision of services, such as employee compensation.

Under the agreement, the Manager will earn a financial service fee associated with the commitments on the Company's mortgages, with exceptions for certain bundled mortgages. For underwriting services, the Company will allocate a portion of the difference between the Company's total revenue less all losses, dividends declared and incurred operating expenses. Any deficits will be borne by the Company.